
AGENDA FOR THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
SIERRA COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 

February 08, 2022 

6:00pm Regular Session 

Downieville: Downieville School, 130 School St, Downieville CA 95936 

**Masks are required for in-person attendance** 

In accordance with AB 361, effective October J, 202 /, pertaining to the convening of public meetings in response 
to the OVJD-19 pandemic, the Sierra ounty Board of Edu at ion will suspend the Brown Act 1eleco11fer•11cing 

posting requirements for any Board members that choose to participate via Zoom videoconferencing. 

Zoom: hltp ://us02web.zoom.us/j/89828327 I 28 

Phone dial-in: 669-900-9128 Webinar ID: 898 2832 7128 
(Press *6 to unmute) 

Any individual who requires disability-related accommodations or modifications including auxiliary aids and services in order lo participate in the 
Bo ml meeting slio11ld contact the S11perin/endent or designee in writing. 

Public inspection of agenda documellls rhat are dfs1!1buted to the Board /(!ss than 72 hours before the meeting, will be made available al the Sierra 
County Office of Education, Room 3, 109 Beckwith Road, Loyalton, CA, 96118, and posted with the on/ine agenda at 

1i1111:llwww,sierracm111tm/D eokd11ca1w11.arg (Government Code 54957.5). 

A. CALL TO ORDER
Please be advised that this meeting will be recorded.

B. ROLL CALL

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

D. FLAG SALUTE

E. INFORMATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS

1. Superintendent's Report
a. Supplement to Annual Update for 2021-2022 Local Control Accountability

Plan (LCAP)*
b. Assignment of Kimberly Askew, Workability Coordinator, .125 FTE (5 hours

weekly), effective January 14, 2022
c. Nurse update

2. Business Report
a. Account Object Summary-Balance from 07/01/2021 to 01/31/2022**

3. Staff Reports (5 minutes)

4. Board Member Reports (5 minutes)

5. Public Comment - This is an opportunity for members of the public to directly address the governing

board on any item of interest that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the governing board whether or 
not it is listed on the agenda. Three (3) minutes may be allotted to each speaker and a maximum of twenty
(20) minutes to each subject matter. (Education Code 35145.5; Bylaw 9322; Government Code 54954.J)

F. CONSENT CALENDAR

1. Approval of minutes for the Regular Board Meeting held January 11, 2022**
2. Approval of Board Report-Checks Dated 01/01/2022 through 01/31/2022**
3. Authorization to submit 2021-2022 Consolidated Application**

Page I of2 
SCOE Agenda - February 08, 2022 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89828327128


G. ACTION ITEMS

1. New Business
a. Approval of t:he 2020-2021 Sierra ounty Office of Education Special

Education chool Accountability Report ard**
b. Approval of utilizing AB 361 for meetings conducted through March 08, 2022

**This ·uspends the Brown Ac/ telecm!(erencing posting requirement for 
any Board members that choose to participate via Zoom videoconferencing 
**AB 361 expires .la11uar OJ, 20_4 
**Zoom will be available for the public with or without utilizing AB 361 

BOARD POLICIES, ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS, EXHIBITS, BOARD BYLAWS 

c. 4217.3-Layoff/Rehire
1. Administrative Regulation, revisions**

d. 6112-School Day
1. Board Policy, revisions**
2. Administrative Regulation, revisions**

e. 6158-Independent Study
1. Board Policy, revisions**
2. Administrative Regulation, revisions**

f. 6170.1-Transitional Kindergarten
1. Board Policy, revisions**

g. 9320-Meetings and Notices
1. Board Bylaw, revisions**

H. ADV AN CED PLANNING

1. Next Regular Board Meetings will be held on March 08, 2022 at Sierra County Office of
Education, Room 4, 109 Beckwith Rd, Loyalton CA 961 18 beginning with losed e sion
as needed at 5:00pm and the Regular Board Meetings at 6:00pm. Masks are required for in
person attendance. Zoom videoconferencing will be available for the public.

2. Suggested Agenda Items

I. ADJOURN

*** prior month handout 
** enclosed 

* handout

r:� L
James Berardi, Sup"t-fn'tendent 
Secretary to the County Board of Education 

James Berardi Superintend nt (jberardi@spjusd.org) 
Kristie Jacobsen, Administrative Assistant to the Superintendent (kjacobsen@spjusd.org) 
Nona Griesert, Business Manager (n riesert as jusd.org) 
Office: 530-993-1660 x0 

Email schoolinfo@spjusd.org to be added to the agenda email list. 

Page 2 of2 
SCOE Agenda - February 08, 2022 



Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2021/22Balances through January

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

Fund 01 - Gen Fund   

1100 307,843.00 376,051.00 157,167.10 161,772.62 57,111.28 Teachers Salaries

1115 1,000.00 1,000.00 430.00 570.00 Certificated Extra Duty

1120 7,500.00 8,250.00 2,190.00 6,060.00 Certificated Substitutes

1200 56,444.00 58,857.00 13,379.15 20,086.81 25,391.04 Certificated Pupil Support Ser

1300 197,315.00 202,315.00 82,653.00 119,451.40 210.60 Certificated Supervisor Admini

1310 10,000.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 Teacher in Charge

Total for Object 1000 580,102.00 656,473.00 253,199.25 303,930.83 99,342.92 

2100 154,607.00 154,606.00 71,717.03 57,890.59 24,998.38 Instructional Aides' Salaries

2115 1,000.00 1,000.00 459.79 540.21 Classified Extra Duty

2120 5,000.00 5,234.00 4,424.16 809.84 Classified Substitutes

2200 39,910.00 42,410.00 34,096.36 41,108.98 32,795.34-Classified Support Salaries

2215 1,000.00 2,271.00 2,271.00 Classified Support Extra Duty

2220 750.00 111.08 638.92 Classified Substitute Salaries

2300 207,800.00 203,737.00 54,717.35 76,509.00 72,510.65 Classified Supervisors' Admini

2400 150,609.00 146,534.00 81,975.84 95,679.19 31,121.03-Clerical Technical Office Staf

2900 19,752.00 19,752.00 1,784.00 17,968.00 Other Classified Salaries

Total for Object 2000 579,678.00 576,294.00 242,506.58 277,966.79 55,820.63 

3101 160,406.00 173,201.00 42,841.30 50,761.95 79,597.75 STRS Certificated Positions

3102 84.60 84.60-STRS Classified Positions

3201 112.26 112.26-PERS Certificated Positions

3202 122,318.00 121,025.00 53,052.31 63,624.26 4,348.43 PERS Classified Positions

3301 39.06 39.06-OASDI Certificated Positions

3302 35,661.00 35,311.00 14,760.46 17,228.85 3,321.69 OASDI Classified Positions

3311 9,207.00 10,304.00 3,543.10 4,510.83 2,250.07 Medicare Certificated Position

3312 8,346.00 8,264.00 3,454.55 4,140.17 669.28 Medicare Classified Positions

3401 110,570.00 117,496.00 49,786.85 55,245.88 12,463.27 Health & Welfare Benefits Cert

3402 70,148.00 123,688.00 62,263.75 70,164.22 8,739.97-Health & Welfare Benefits Clas

3501 6,748.00 6,987.00 1,266.00 1,611.07 4,109.93 SUI Certificated

3502 7,129.00 7,002.00 1,212.15 1,416.16 4,373.69 SUI Classified

3601 24,094.00 26,753.00 8,732.00 10,554.10 7,466.90 Workers' Compensation Certific

3602 21,837.00 21,605.00 8,513.97 10,001.20 3,089.83 Workers' Compensation Classifi

3901 15,689.00 15,689.00 15,688.50 .50 Golden Handshake

Total for Object 3000 592,153.00 667,325.00 249,426.44 305,183.11 112,715.45 

4100 1,001.00 4,773.00 4,773.00 Approved Textbooks Core Curric

4300 54,248.00 65,612.00 2,360.29 21,543.99 41,707.72 Materials and Supplies

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 1, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2022, Period = 7, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 1 of 4

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Feb  1 2022  1:13PM001 - Sierra County Office of Education

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1115
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1120
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=1310
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2115
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2120
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2215
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2220
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=2900
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3101
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3102
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3201
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3202
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3301
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3302
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3311
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3312
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3401
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3402
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3501
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3502
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3601
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3602
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=3901
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4300


Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2021/22Balances through January

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

Fund 01 - Gen Fund    (continued)

4320 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 Custodial Grounds Supplies

4330 1,750.00 1,750.00 21.44 179.88 1,548.68 Office Supplies

4350 3,500.00 3,500.00 872.53 1,233.28 1,394.19 Vehicle Upkeep

4399 4,293.00 5,173.00 5,173.00 Mat & Sup Undesignated Bal

4400 9,414.00 25,990.00 25,990.00 Noncapitalized Equipment

Total for Object 4000 75,206.00 107,798.00 3,254.26 22,957.15 81,586.59 

5100 40,000.00 40,000.00 40,000.00 Subagreements for Services

5200 14,500.00 66,903.00 1,577.22 7,882.02 57,443.76 Travel and Conference

5300 16,941.00 19,004.00 757.90 17,764.06 482.04 Dues and Membership

5400 15,000.00 15,000.00 17,361.50 2,361.50-Insurance

5500 14,500.00 14,500.00 2,167.91 1,832.09 10,500.00 Operation Housekeeping Service

5600 2,500.00 2,500.00 477.15 309.74 1,713.11 Rentals, Leases, Repairs, Nonc

5801 18,500.00 25,370.00 4,914.50 85.50 20,370.00 Legal Services

5805 500.00 1,000.00 86.00 64.00 850.00 Personnel Expense

5808 1,500.00 1,500.00 1,007.69 492.31 .00 Other Services & Fees

5810 385,979.00 460,746.00 301,315.51 102,975.34 56,455.15 Contracted Services

5899 4,639.87 30,104.43 34,744.30-SPJUSD to Reimburse

5900 10,500.00 14,000.00 3,865.64 8,982.78 1,151.58 Communications

Total for Object 5000 520,420.00 660,523.00 320,809.39 187,853.77 151,859.84 

6400 20,000.00 20,000.00 5,797.60 24,036.81 9,834.41-Equipment

6500 15,000.00 15,000.00 2,801.50 12,198.50 Equipment Replacement

Total for Object 6000 35,000.00 35,000.00 8,599.10 24,036.81 2,364.09 

7110 25,000.00 25,000.00 25,000.00 County Tuition Inter Dist Agre

7141 24,428.00 24,428.00 24,428.00 Tuition, excess cost etc betwe

7310 .00 Direct Support/Indirect Costs

Total for Object 7000 49,428.00 49,428.00 .00 .00 49,428.00 

553,117.52 2,431,987.00 2,752,841.00 1,077,795.02 1,121,928.46 Total for Fund 01 and Expense accounts

Fund 11 - ADULT ED   

1100 7,500.00 14,398.71 6,898.71-Teachers Salaries

1300 101,715.00 101,715.00 43,232.95 60,526.13 2,044.08-Certificated Supervisor Admini

Total for Object 1000 101,715.00 109,215.00 43,232.95 74,924.84 8,942.79-

2100 5,684.00 5,684.00 Instructional Aides' Salaries

2200 3,143.00 10,243.00 10,243.00 Classified Support Salaries

2400 25,000.00 10,573.20 13,010.71 1,416.09 Clerical Technical Office Staf

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 1, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2022, Period = 7, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 2 of 4

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Feb  1 2022  1:13PM001 - Sierra County Office of Education

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4320
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4330
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4350
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4399
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=4400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5500
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5600
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5801
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5805
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5808
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5810
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5899
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=5900
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=6400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=6500
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=7110
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=7141
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=01&p8=Fund&p7=7310
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=1100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=1300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=2100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=2200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=2400


Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2021/22Balances through January

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

Fund 11 - ADULT ED    (continued)

Total for Object 2000 3,143.00 40,927.00 10,573.20 13,010.71 17,343.09 

3101 22,410.00 23,679.00 7,315.00 11,086.52 5,277.48 STRS Certificated Positions

3202 720.00 9,377.00 2,422.33 2,980.74 3,973.93 PERS Classified Positions

3301 582.91 582.91-OASDI Certificated Positions

3302 195.00 2,537.00 655.56 806.68 1,074.76 OASDI Classified Positions

3311 1,475.00 1,584.00 626.90 1,086.44 129.34-Medicare Certificated Position

3312 46.00 594.00 153.31 188.66 252.03 Medicare Classified Positions

3401 12,767.00 12,767.00 5,424.50 7,468.30 125.80-Health & Welfare Benefits Cert

3501 1,251.00 1,289.00 216.15 374.62 698.23 SUI Certificated

3502 39.00 228.00 52.87 65.08 110.05 SUI Classified

3601 3,859.00 4,127.00 1,544.95 2,677.47 95.42-Workers' Compensation Certific

3602 119.00 1,470.00 377.85 464.95 627.20 Workers' Compensation Classifi

Total for Object 3000 42,881.00 57,652.00 18,789.42 27,782.37 11,080.21 

4100 6,500.00 6,500.00 2,796.47 3,703.53 Approved Textbooks Core Curric

4300 6,000.00 28,813.00 3,763.75 6,341.01 18,708.24 Materials and Supplies

4320 2,000.00 2,000.00 258.97 1,741.03 Custodial Grounds Supplies

4330 3,000.00 3,000.00 702.28 1,362.26 935.46 Office Supplies

4350 5,000.00 5,000.00 1,584.22 38.00 3,377.78 Vehicle Upkeep

4399 42,898.00 42,898.00 Mat & Sup Undesignated Bal

4400 5,200.00 20,000.00 9,490.50 10,509.50 Noncapitalized Equipment

Total for Object 4000 27,700.00 108,211.00 6,050.25 20,287.21 81,873.54 

5200 6,500.00 6,500.00 465.06 1,390.99 4,643.95 Travel and Conference

5203 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 MILEAGE

5300 1,500.00 1,500.00 1,183.40 316.60 Dues and Membership

5500 4,200.00 4,200.00 1,988.76 1,411.24 800.00 Operation Housekeeping Service

5600 2,500.00 2,500.00 740.96 1,581.76 177.28 Rentals, Leases, Repairs, Nonc

5801 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 Legal Services

5805 100.00 100.00 1.00 49.00 50.00 Personnel Expense

5808 1,000.00 489.60 110.40 400.00 Other Services & Fees

5810 17,000.00 25,000.00 540.00 20,322.91 4,137.09 Contracted Services

5900 5,000.00 5,000.00 497.49 702.51 3,800.00 Communications

Total for Object 5000 38,800.00 47,800.00 4,722.87 26,752.21 16,324.92 

6200 6,380.00 6,500.00 6,500.00 .00 Building and Improvement of Bu

6400 6,610.00 6,610.00 6,610.00 Equipment

Total for Object 6000 12,990.00 13,110.00 .00 6,500.00 6,610.00 

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 1, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2022, Period = 7, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 3 of 4

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Feb  1 2022  1:13PM001 - Sierra County Office of Education

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3101
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3202
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3301
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3302
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3311
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3312
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3401
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3501
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3502
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3601
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=3602
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=4100
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=4300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=4320
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=4330
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=4350
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=4399
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=4400
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5203
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5300
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5500
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5600
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5801
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5805
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5808
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5810
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=5900
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=6200
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=6400


Account Object Summary-BalanceFiscal01a

Fiscal Year 2021/22Balances through January

Object Description
Account 

Balance
ExpenditureEncumbered

Revised

Budget

Adopted

Budget

Fund 11 - ADULT ED    (continued)

7619 6,971.00 10,697.00 10,697.00 Other Authorized Interfund Tra

134,985.97 234,200.00 387,612.00 83,368.69 169,257.34 Total for Fund 11 and Expense accounts

Fund 16 - FOREST RES   

7211 80,000.00 262,000.00 262,000.00 Transfers of Pass-through Rev

7619 13,360.00 46,000.00 46,000.00 Other Authorized Interfund Tra

308,000.00 93,360.00 308,000.00 .00 .00 Total for Fund 16, Expense accounts and Object 7000

996,103.49 2,759,547.00 3,448,453.00 1,161,163.71 1,291,185.80 Total for Org 001 - Sierra County Office of Education

Filtered by User Permissions, (Org = 1, Online/Offline = N, Fiscal Year = 2022, Period = 7, Unposted JEs? = N, Assets and Liabilities? = N, 

Restricted Accts? = Y, Object = 1-7, SACS Fund? = N, Fund Page Break? = N, Obj Lvl = 4, Obj Digits = 1, Page Break? = N)

Selection

Page 4 of 4

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Feb  1 2022  1:13PM001 - Sierra County Office of Education

http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=11&p8=Fund&p7=7619
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=16&p8=Fund&p7=7211
http://ol5/reportlink/fiscal02a.rpt?p1=129440&p2=1&p3=16&p8=Fund&p7=7619


Page 1 of 3 

SCOE Minutes – January 11, 2022 

MINUTES FOR THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE 

SIERRA COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION 

January 11, 2022 

6:00pm Regular Session  

Loyalton: Sierra County Office of Education, Room 4, 109 Beckwith Rd, Loyalton CA 96118 

Zoom videoconferencing was also available for the public. 

In accordance with AB 361, effective October 1, 2021, pertaining to the convening of public meetings in response 

to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Sierra County Board of Education suspended the Brown Act teleconferencing 

posting requirements for any Board members choosing to participate via Zoom videoconferencing. 

 

A. CALL TO ORDER 

Vice President CHRISTINA POTTER called the meeting to order at 6:02pm. 

B. ROLL CALL 

PRESENT: Christina Potter, Vice President 

Patty Hall, Clerk 

  Allen Wright, Member 

Mike Moore, Member 

  Nicole Stannard, Member 

ABSENT: None 

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

HALL/STANNARD 

5/0 

D. FLAG SALUTE 

E. BOARD ORGANIZATION 

1. Acceptance of Resignation for Nicole Stannard as President 

MOORE/HALL 

5/0 

2. The Vice President will call for the election of the President 

STANNARD nominated HALL. Second by MOORE. HALL declined. 

STANNARD nominated MOORE. MOORE declined. 

MOORE nominated POTTER. POTTER declined. 

No President selected. Try again in February. 

F. INFORMATION/DISCUSSION ITEMS 

1. Correspondence 

a. CDPH response to Resolution Calling for State Officials to Not Require the 

COVID-19 Vaccine for Students and Staff 

BERARDI: It highlights, as of right now, that there will be exemptions made 

available for both personal and medical reasons. We hope that doesn’t change 

if vaccine mandates are imposed. 

2. Superintendent’s Report 

a. Acceptance of resignation for Allison Baca, Downieville Schools, Secretary, 

.25 FTE (2 hours/day), effective December 31, 2021 

b. Moving Loyalton Elementary School Principal position from County to District 

BERARDI: We will wait until July 1 (beginning of next fiscal year) as this needs 

to be done slowly, if it happens at all, depending on what our research shows. 

c. Strategic Planning 

BERARDI: I will send dates to the Board to get it started up again in the 

coming months. 

STANNARD: What about the changes with board members in the next year? 



Page 2 of 3 

SCOE Minutes – January 11, 2022 

BERARDI: Yes, maybe we need to hold off until we have new board members 

seated, but we will not wait too long to get it started again. 

3. Business Report 

a. Account Object Summary-Balance from 07/01/2021 to 12/31/2021 

4. Staff Reports 

ADULT ED—JACKSON: Had initial meeting with the City of Loyalton on 

infrastructure for new building. Received additional $6200 from North Far North 

Industry Consortium to go towards the culinary program. Four CPR courses 

starting this week. EMT refresher course starting next week. 

SELPA—BETHKE: No report 

5. Board Member Reports 

WRIGHT: I have not registered to run for re-election, so officially I will be off the 

board in December, potentially sooner. 

MOORE: Same as Allen, I have not registered to run for re-election. I may or may 

not stay on through December. 

6. Public Comment 

LAURIE PETTERSON: Asking for clarification on the ramifications of moving the 

LES Principal position from County to District with seniority, rehire rights, 

policies, etc. 

DARCY CAMERON: Regarding the policy options about masks. None of the 

options presented tonight appear to reflect the alternatives I discussed with the 

Loyalton school principals. I feel these need to be re-evaluated and modified. 

RANDI DURNEY: Why are we not following the recently updated CDC guidelines? 

Basketball has been cancelled for the next two weeks. Why are we still taking 

things away from our children? 

MULTIPLE SPEAKERS WERE HEARD SPEAKING AGAINST ANY MASK 

REQUIREMENTS 

G. CONSENT CALENDAR 

1. Approval of minutes for the Regular Board Meeting held December 13, 2021 

2. Approval of Board Report-Checks Dated 12/01/2021 through 12/31/2021 

MOORE/WRIGHT 

5/0 

H. ACTION ITEMS 

1. Old Business 

a. Approval of Mask Mandate Policy 

STANNARD motioned to approve Option #4 provided in the packets.  

Second by POTTER. 

ROLL CALL VOTE: 

WRIGHT – No 

MOORE – No 

HALL – No 

STANNARD – Yes 

POTTER – Yes 

2/3 

MOORE motioned to approve Option #1. Second by HALL. 

ROLL CALL VOTE: 

WRIGHT – Yes 

MOORE – Yes 

HALL – Yes 

STANNARD – No 

POTTER – No 

3/2 

 



Page 3 of 3 

SCOE Minutes – January 11, 2022 

 

 

2. New Business 

a. Approval of proposed increase on Classified Salary Schedules per California 

Minimum Wage Law, Effective January 1, 2022 

MOORE/HALL 

5/0 

b. Approval of utilizing AB 361 for meetings conducted through February 08, 2022 

**AB 361 expires at 11:59pm on April 01, 2022**January 2024, but must 

be voted on every 30 days. 

**This suspends the Brown Act teleconferencing posting requirements for 

any Board members that choose to participate via Zoom videoconferencing  

**Zoom will be available for the public with or without utilizing AB 361 

MOORE/STANNARD 

5/0 

I. ADVANCED PLANNING 

1. Next Regular Board Meeting will be held on February 08, 2022, at Downieville School, 

130 School St, Downieville CA 95936, beginning with Closed Session as needed at 5:00pm 

and the Regular Board Meeting at 6:00pm. Masks are required for in-person attendance. 

Zoom videoconferencing will be available for the public. 

2. Suggested Agenda Items 

-Call for election of President 

-Revisit Mask Mandate Policy for needed/proposed revisions 

-Need for a nurse with an RN 

J. ADJOURN at 8:03pm 

MOORE/HALL 

5/0 

 

 

 

_______________________________  _______________________________ 

Patty Hall, Clerk     James Berardi, Superintendent 

       Secretary to the County Board of Education 



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 01/01/2022 through 01/31/2022

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

00016121 01/11/2022 ALHAMBRA 11-4330 WATER SERVICE 4.99 

00016122 01/11/2022 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES 11-4330 SUPPLIES 24.66 

00016123 01/11/2022 JENNA ARTAZ 01-5810 COUNSELING SERVICES 1,003.20 

00016124 01/11/2022 AT&T 11-5900 PHONE 88.15 

00016125 01/11/2022 CIT 01-5900 PHONE SYSTEM/MAINTENANCE 773.08 

00016126 01/11/2022 CWDL CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 01-9500 AUDIT FEES 7,997.50 

01-9515 AUDIT FEES 799.75- 7,197.75 

00016127 01/11/2022 INTERMOUNTAIN DISPOSAL, INC. 11-5500 GARBAGE SERVICE 60.22 

00016128 01/11/2022 LIBERTY UTILITIES CPEC 01-5500 ELECTRICAL SERVICE 697.80 

11-5500 ELECTRICAL SERVICE 379.42 1,077.22 

00016129 01/11/2022 PLUMAS-SIERRA TELECOMMUNICATIONS 11-5600 BROADBAND SERVICE 109.00 

00016130 01/11/2022 SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 01-5808 BANK SERVICE FEES 68.42 

00016131 01/11/2022 SIERRA VALLEY HOME CENTER 01-4300 SHOP SUPPLIES 183.55 

00016132 01/11/2022 TRI COUNTY SCHOOLS INSURANCE GROUP 01-9535 HEALTH INSURANCE 2,874.00 

76-9576 HEALTH INSURANCE 24,859.40 27,733.40 

00016133 01/11/2022 U.S. BANK VOYAGER 01-4350 FUEL EXPENSE 177.75 

01-5899 FUEL EXPENSE 278.34 

11-5200 FUEL EXPENSE 72.13 528.22 

00016134 01/27/2022 ALHAMBRA 11-4330 WATER SERVICE 5.99 

00016135 01/27/2022 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES 11-4300 BATTERIES 56.60 

00016136 01/27/2022 AT&T 11-5900 PHONE 88.22 

00016137 01/27/2022 MICAH COHEN, MOT, OTR/L 01-5810 OCCUPATIONAL THERAPY SERVICES 1,850.00 

00016138 01/27/2022 STATE OF CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 01-5805 EMPLOYMENT FINGERPRINTING 32.00 

00016139 01/27/2022 PRESENCELEARNING, INC. 01-5810 PRESENCE LEARNING 3,980.25 

00016140 01/27/2022 RAY MORGAN COMPANY 01-5600 COPIER MAINT. 95.21 

11-5600 COPIER/MAINTENANCE 17.64 112.85 

00016141 01/27/2022 CAROLYN  REES 01-5810 COVID TESTING SERVICES 675.00 

00016142 01/27/2022 SCHOOL SPECIALITY, LLC 01-4300 INSTRUCTIONAL SUPPLIES 411.22 

00016143 01/27/2022 SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 01-5808 BANK SERVICE FEES 117.55 

00016144 01/27/2022 U.S. BANK 01-4300 SHOP SUPPLIES 98.00 

01-4330 ADOBE SUBSCRIPTION 179.88 

11-4330 OFFICE SUPPLIES 44.25 322.13 

00016145 01/27/2022 ALLEN WRIGHT 01-5200 PER DIEM 21.94 

Total Number of Checks 25 46,525.61 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 1 of 2

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Feb  1 2022  1:16PM001 - Sierra County Office of Education



Board ReportReqPay12c

Checks Dated 01/01/2022 through 01/31/2022

Check 
AmountPay to the Order of

Check 
Number

Check 
Date

Expensed 
AmountFund-Object Comment

Fund Summary

Fund Description Check Count Expensed Amount

County School Service Fund 17 20,714.94 01

ADULT EDUCATION 12 951.27 11

Payroll Clearing 1 24,859.40 76

Net (Check Amount)

Less Unpaid Sales Tax Liability

Total Number of Checks 25 46,525.61 

.00 

46,525.61 

The preceding Checks have been issued in accordance with the District's Policy and authorization of the Board of Trustees.  It is recommended that the 

preceding Checks be approved. Page 2 of 2

Generated for Adrienne Garza (ABALL), Feb  1 2022  1:16PM001 - Sierra County Office of Education







2021-22 School Accountability Report Card Page 1 of 22 Sierra County Special Education 

Sierra County Special Education 
2021 School Accountability Report Card 

------- 
2021-22 School Accountability Report Card 

General Information about the School Accountability Report Card (SARC) 

SARC Overview 
 

 

By February 1 of each year, every school in California is required by state law to 
publish a School Accountability Report Card (SARC). The SARC contains 
information about the condition and performance of each California public school. 
Under the Local Control Funding Formula (LCFF) all local educational agencies 
(LEAs) are required to prepare a Local Control and Accountability Plan (LCAP), 
which describes how they intend to meet annual school-specific goals for all pupils, 
with specific activities to address state and local priorities. Additionally, data 
reported in an LCAP is to be consistent with data reported in the SARC. 
 
For more information about SARC requirements and access to prior year reports, 
see the California Department of Education (CDE) SARC web page at 
www.cde.ca.gov/ta/ac/sa/ 
 
For more information about the LCFF or the LCAP, see the CDE LCFF web page 
at www.cde.ca.gov/fg/aa/lc/ 
 
For additional information about the school, parents/guardians and community 
members should contact the school principal or the district office. 
 

DataQuest 
 

 

DataQuest is an online data tool located on the CDE DataQuest web page at 
dq.cde.ca.gov/dataquest/ that contains additional information about this school and 
comparisons of the school to the district and the county. Specifically, DataQuest is 
a dynamic system that provides reports for accountability (e.g., test data, 
enrollment, high school graduates, dropouts, course enrollments, staffing, and data 
regarding English learners). 
 

California School Dashboard 
 

 

The California School Dashboard (Dashboard) www.caschooldashboard.org/ 
reflects California’s new accountability and continuous improvement system and 
provides information about how LEAs and schools are meeting the needs of 
California’s diverse student population. The Dashboard contains reports that 
display the performance of LEAs, schools, and student groups on a set of state 
and local measures to assist in identifying strengths, challenges, and areas in 
need of improvement. 
 

Internet Access Internet access is available at public libraries and other locations that are publicly 
accessible (e.g., the California State Library). Access to the Internet at libraries and 
public locations is generally provided on a first-come, first-served basis. Other use 
restrictions may include the hours of operation, the length of time that a workstation 
may be used (depending on availability), the types of software programs available 
on a workstation, and the ability to print documents. 
 

 

https://www.cde.ca.gov/ta/ac/sa/
https://www.cde.ca.gov/fg/aa/lc/
https://dq.cde.ca.gov/dataquest/
http://www.caschooldashboard.org/


2021-22 School Accountability Report Card Page 2 of 22 Sierra County Special Education 

2021-22 School Contact Information 

2021-22 School Contact Information 

School Name Sierra County Special Education         

Street 109 Beckwith Street         

City, State, Zip Loyalton, CA  96118         

Phone Number 530-993-1660         

Principal Heidi Bethke         

Email Address hbethke@spjusd.org         

School Website          

County-District-School (CDS) Code 46104626077267         
 

 
2021-22 District Contact Information 

2021-22 District Contact Information 

District Name Sierra County Office of Education         

Phone Number 530-993-1660         

Superintendent  James Berardi         

Email Address jberardi@spjusd.org         

District Website Address www.sierracountyofficeofeducation.org        
 

 
2021-22 School Overview 

2021-22 School Overview 

Our mission is to provide a primary education with a goal of all children achieving literacy.  We provide children with the tools to 
encourage their total development, enhance their self-esteem and realize their potential in a safe, secure environment. 
 
Sierra County Office of Education Special Education serves Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District students.  Please see 
individual Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District school sites' School Accountability Report Card for more detail. 
 
Sierra County Office of Education students include students who attend school in the State of Nevada and are reported as out-
of-state students.  Therefore, no data is reflected for those students in this report. 
 
Sierra County Special Education student population is fewer than 10, therefore no data is reflected for those students in this 
report. Students attending Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District are listed under the enrollment of their respective 
schools. 
-------- 

 

 



2021-22 School Accountability Report Card Page 3 of 22 Sierra County Special Education 

About this School  
A. Conditions of Learning (State Priority: Basic) 

A. Conditions of Learning State Priority: Basic 

 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: Basic 
(Priority 1): 
 

• Degree to which teachers are appropriately assigned and fully credentialed in 
the subject area and for the pupils they are teaching; 

• Pupils have access to standards-aligned instructional materials; and 

• School facilities are maintained in good repair 
 
Note: For more information refer to the Updated Teacher Equity Definitions web 
page at https://www.cde.ca.gov/pd/ee/teacherequitydefinitions.asp 
 

 
2019-20 Teacher Preparation and Placement 

2019-20 Teacher Preparation and Placement 

Authorization/Assignment 2019-20 

Fully (Preliminary or Clear) Credentialed for Subject and Student Placement (properly assigned)  

Intern Credential Holders Properly Assigned  

Teachers Without Credentials and Misassignments (“ineffective” under ESSA)  

Credentialed Teachers Assigned Out-of-Field (“out-of-field” under ESSA)         

Unknown          

Total Teaching Positions          

 
Note: The data in this table is based on Full Time Equivalent (FTE) status. One FTE equals one staff member working full time; 
one FTE could also represent two staff members who each work 50 percent of full time. Additionally, an assignment is defined as 
a position that an educator is assigned to based on setting, subject, and grade level. An authorization is defined as the services 
that an educator is authorized to provide to students. 

 
2019-20 Teachers Without Credentials and Misassignments (considered “ineffective” under ESSA) 

2019-20 Teachers Without Credentials and Misassignments (considered “ineffective” under ESSA) 

Authorization/Assignment 2019-20 

Permits and Waivers           

Misassignments            

Vacant Positions           

Total Teachers Without Credentials and Misassignments  
 

 
2019-20 Credentialed Teachers Assigned Out-of-Field (considered “out-of-field” under ESSA) 

2019-20 Credentialed Teachers Assigned Out-of-Field (considered “out-of-field” under ESSA) 

Indicator 2019-20 

Credentialed Teachers Authorized on a Permit or Waiver  

Local Assignment Options  

Total Out-of-Field Teachers  
 

 

https://www.cde.ca.gov/pd/ee/teacherequitydefinitions.asp


2021-22 School Accountability Report Card Page 4 of 22 Sierra County Special Education 

2019-20 Class Assignments 

2019-20 Class Assignments 

Indicator 2019-20 

Misassignments for English Learners 
(a percentage of all the classes with English learners taught by teachers that are misassigned) 

 

No credential, permit or authorization to teach 
(a percentage of all the classes taught by teachers with no record of an authorization to teach) 

 

 

 
2021-22 Quality, Currency, Availability of Textbooks and Other Instructional Materials 

2021-22 Quality, Currency, Availability of Textbooks and Other Instructional Materials 

Sierra County Office of Education Special Education serves Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District students. Those 
students use textbooks issued by their school of enrollment.  Please see the sections on Textbooks within the individual Sierra-
Plumas school sites' School Accountability Report Card for more detail.        

 

Year and month in which the data were collected N/A 

 

Subject 
Textbooks and Other Instructional Materials/year of 

Adoption 

From 
Most 

Recent 
Adoption

? 

Percent 
Students 

Lacking Own 
Assigned 

Copy 

Reading/Language Arts          n/a 

Mathematics          n/a 

Science          n/a 

History-Social Science          n/a 

Foreign Language          n/a 

Health          n/a 

Visual and Performing Arts          n/a 

Science Laboratory Equipment 
(grades 9-12) 

         n/a 

 

 



2021-22 School Accountability Report Card Page 5 of 22 Sierra County Special Education 

School Facility Conditions and Planned Improvements 

School Facility Conditions and Planned Improvements 

To determine the condition of our facilities, our district performs an annual inspection using the Facilities Inspection Tool which 
is issued by the Office of Public School Construction. 
Based on that survey we've answered the questions you see on this report. Please note that the information reflects the 
condition of our building as of the date of the report.  Since that time, those conditions may have changed. 
        

 

Year and month of the most recent FIT report February 2020 
 

System Inspected 
Rate 
Good 

Rate 
Fair 

Rate 
Poor 

Repair Needed and Action Taken or Planned 

Systems: 
Gas Leaks, Mechanical/HVAC, Sewer  

X    

Interior: 
Interior Surfaces 

X    

Cleanliness: 
Overall Cleanliness, Pest/Vermin Infestation 

X    

Electrical X    

Restrooms/Fountains: 
Restrooms, Sinks/ Fountains 

X    

Safety: 
Fire Safety, Hazardous Materials 

X    

Structural: 
Structural Damage, Roofs 

X    

External: 
Playground/School Grounds, Windows/ 
Doors/Gates/Fences 

X    

 

 
Overall Facility Rate 

Overall Facility Rate 

Exemplary Good Fair Poor 

X                        
 

 



2021-22 School Accountability Report Card Page 6 of 22 Sierra County Special Education 

B. Pupil Outcomes (State Priority: Pupil Achievement) 

B. Pupil Outcomes State Priority: Pupil Achievement 

 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: Pupil 
Achievement (Priority 4): 
 
Statewide Assessments 
(i.e., California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress [CAASPP] 
System includes the Smarter Balanced Summative Assessments for students in 
the general education population and the California Alternate Assessments [CAAs] 
for English language arts/literacy [ELA] and mathematics given in grades three 
through eight and grade eleven. Only eligible students may participate in the 
administration of the CAAs. CAAs items are aligned with alternate achievement 
standards, which are linked with the Common Core State Standards [CCSS] for 
students with the most significant cognitive disabilities). 
 
The CAASPP System encompasses the following assessments and student 
participation requirements: 
 
1. Smarter Balanced Summative Assessments and CAAs for ELA in grades 

three through eight and grade eleven. 
2. Smarter Balanced Summative Assessments and CAAs for mathematics 

in grades three through eight and grade eleven. 
3. California Science Test (CAST) and CAAs for Science in grades five, eight, 

and once in high school (i.e., grade ten, eleven, or twelve). 
 
SARC Reporting in the 2020-2021 School Year Only  
Where the most viable option, LEAs were required to administer the statewide 
summative assessment in ELA and mathematics. Where a statewide summative 
assessment was not the most viable option for the LEA (or for one or more grade-
level[s] within the LEA) due to the pandemic, LEAs were allowed to report results 
from a different assessment that met the criteria established by the State Board of 
Education (SBE) on March 16, 2021. The assessments were required to be: 
 

• Aligned with CA CCSS for ELA and mathematics; 

• Available to students in grades 3 through 8, and grade 11; and 

• Uniformly administered across a grade, grade span, school, or district to all 
eligible students. 

 
Options 
Note that the CAAs could only be administered in-person following health and 
safety requirements. If it was not viable for the LEA to administer the CAAs in 
person with health and safety guidelines in place, the LEA was directed to not 
administer the tests. There were no other assessment options available for the 
CAAs. Schools administered the Smarter Balanced Summative Assessments for 
ELA and mathematics, other assessments that meet the SBE criteria, or a 
combination of both, and they could only choose one of the following: 
 

• Smarter Balanced ELA and mathematics summative assessments; 

• Other assessments meeting the SBE criteria; or 

• Combination of Smarter Balanced ELA and mathematics summative 
assessments and other assessments. 

 
The percentage of students who have successfully completed courses that satisfy 
the requirements for entrance to the University of California and the California State 
University, or career technical education sequences or programs of study. 
 

 



2021-22 School Accountability Report Card Page 7 of 22 Sierra County Special Education 

Percentage of Students Meeting or Exceeding the State Standard on CAASPP 

Percentage of Students Meeting or Exceeding the State Standard on CAASPP 

This table displays CAASPP test results in ELA and mathematics for all students grades three through eight and grade eleven 
taking and completing a state-administered assessment. 
 
The 2019-2020 data cells with N/A values indicate that the 2019-2020 data are not available due to the COVID-19 pandemic and 
resulting summative test suspension. The Executive Order N-30-20 was issued which waived the assessment, accountability, and 
reporting requirements for the 2019-2020 school year. 
 
The 2020-2021 data cells have N/A values because these data are not comparable to other year data due to the COVID-19 
pandemic during the 2020-2021 school year. Where the CAASPP assessments in ELA and/or mathematics is not the most viable 
option, the LEAs were allowed to administer local assessments. Therefore, the 2020-2021 data between school years for the 
school, district, state are not an accurate comparison. As such, it is inappropriate to compare results of the 2020-2021 school year 
to other school years. 

Subject 
School 
2019-20 

School 
2020-21 

District 
2019-20 

District 
2020-21 

State 
2019-20 

State 
2020-21 

English Language Arts/Literacy 
(grades 3-8 and 11) 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Mathematics 
(grades 3-8 and 11) 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 

 



2021-22 School Accountability Report Card Page 8 of 22 Sierra County Special Education 

2020-21 CAASPP Test Results in ELA by Student Group 

2020-21 CAASPP Test Results in ELA by Student Group 

This table displays CAASPP test results in ELA by student group for students grades three through eight and grade eleven taking 
and completing a state-administered assessment.  The CDE will populate this table for schools in cases where the school 
administered the CAASPP assessment.  In cases where the school administered a local assessment instead of CAASPP, the 
CDE will populate this table with “NT” values, meaning this school did not test students using the CAASPP. See the local 
assessment(s) table for more information. 

CAASPP 
Student Groups 

CAASPP 
Total  

Enrollment 

CAASPP 
Number  
Tested 

CAASPP 
Percent  
Tested 

CAASPP 
Percent 

Not Tested 

CAASPP 
Percent  
Met or 

Exceeded 

All Students              

Female              

Male              

American Indian or Alaska Native              

Asian              

Black or African American               

Filipino              

Hispanic or Latino              

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander              

Two or More Races              

White              

English Learners              

Foster Youth              

Homeless              

Military              

Socioeconomically Disadvantaged              

Students Receiving Migrant Education Services              

Students with Disabilities               
 

 



2021-22 School Accountability Report Card Page 9 of 22 Sierra County Special Education 

2020-21 CAASPP Test Results in Math by Student Group 

2020-21 CAASPP Test Results in Math by Student Group 

This table displays CAASPP test results in Math by student group for students grades three through eight and grade eleven taking 
and completing a state-administered assessment.  The CDE will populate this table for schools in cases where the school 
administered the CAASPP assessment.  In cases where the school administered a local assessment instead of CAASPP, the 
CDE will populate this table with “NT” values, meaning this school did not test students using the CAASPP. See the local 
assessment(s) table for more information. 

CAASPP 
Student Groups 

CAASPP 
Total  

Enrollment 

CAASPP 
Number  
Tested 

CAASPP 
Percent  
Tested 

CAASPP 
Percent 

Not Tested 

CAASPP 
Percent  
Met or 

Exceeded 

All Students              

Female              

Male              

American Indian or Alaska Native              

Asian              

Black or African American               

Filipino              

Hispanic or Latino              

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander              

Two or More Races              

White              

English Learners              

Foster Youth              

Homeless              

Military              

Socioeconomically Disadvantaged              

Students Receiving Migrant Education Services              

Students with Disabilities               
 

 
2020-21 Local Assessment Test Results in ELA by Student Group 

2020-21 Local Assessment Test Results in ELA by Student Group 

This table displays Local Assessment test results in ELA by student group for students grades three through eight and grade 
eleven.  LEAs/schools will populate this table for schools in cases where the school administered a local assessment.  In cases 
where the school administered the CAASPP assessment, LEAs/schools will populate this table with “N/A” values in all cells, 
meaning this table is Not Applicable for this school. 
*At or above the grade-level standard in the context of the local assessment administered. 

 
2020-21 Local Assessment Test Results in Math by Student Group 

2020-21 Local Assessment Test Results in Math by Student Group 

This table displays Local Assessment test results in Math by student group for students grades three through eight and grade 
eleven.  LEAs/schools will populate this table for schools in cases where the school administered a local assessment.  In cases 
where the school administered the CAASPP assessment, LEAs/schools will populate this table with “N/A” values in all cells, 
meaning this table is Not Applicable for this school. 
*At or above the grade-level standard in the context of the local assessment administered. 

 



2021-22 School Accountability Report Card Page 10 of 22 Sierra County Special Education 

CAASPP Test Results in Science for All Students 

CAASPP Test Results in Science for All Students 

This table displays the percentage of all students grades five, eight, and High School meeting or exceeding the State Standard. 
 
The 2019-2020 data cells with N/A values indicate that the 2019-2020 data are not available due to the COVID-19 pandemic and 
resulting summative testing suspension. The Executive Order N-30-20 was issued which waived the assessment, accountability, 
and reporting requirements for the 2019-2020 school year. 
 
For any 2020-2021 data cells with N/T values indicate that this school did not test students using the CAASPP Science. 

Subject 
School 
2019-20 

School 
2020-21 

District 
2019-20 

District 
2020-21 

State 
2019-20 

State 
2020-21 

Science  
(grades 5, 8 and high school) 

N/A  N/A  N/A  

 

 
2020-21 CAASPP Test Results in Science by Student Group 

2020-21 CAASPP Test Results in Science by Student Group 

This table displays CAASPP test results in Science by student group for students grades five, eight, and High School.  For any 
data cells with N/T values indicate that this school did not test students using the CAASPP Science. 

Student Group 
Total  

Enrollment 
Number  
Tested 

Percent  
Tested 

Percent 
Not Tested 

Percent 
Met or 

Exceeded 

All Students              

Female              

Male              

American Indian or Alaska Native              

Asian              

Black or African American               

Filipino              

Hispanic or Latino              

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander              

Two or More Races              

White              

English Learners              

Foster Youth              

Homeless              

Military              

Socioeconomically Disadvantaged              

Students Receiving Migrant Education Services              

Students with Disabilities               
 

 
2020-21 Career Technical Education Programs 

2020-21 Career Technical Education Programs 

Sierra County Office of Education Special Education serves Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District students. Please see 
the Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District individual school sites' School Accountability Report Card for more detail.-------- 

 

 



2021-22 School Accountability Report Card Page 11 of 22 Sierra County Special Education 

2020-21 Career Technical Education (CTE) Participation 

2020-21 Career Technical Education (CTE) Participation 

Measure CTE Program Participation 

Number of Pupils Participating in CTE  

Percent of Pupils that Complete a CTE Program and Earn a High School Diploma  

Percent of CTE Courses that are Sequenced or Articulated Between the School and 
Institutions of Postsecondary Education 

 

 

 
Course Enrollment/Completion 

Course Enrollment/Completion 

This table displays the course enrollment/completion of University of California (UC) and/or California State University (CSU) 
admission requirements. 

UC/CSU Course Measure Percent 

2020-2021 Pupils Enrolled in Courses Required for UC/CSU Admission  

2019-2020 Graduates Who Completed All Courses Required for UC/CSU Admission  
 

 

B. Pupil Outcomes State Priority: Other Pupil Outcomes 
 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: Other 
Pupil Outcomes (Priority 8): Pupil outcomes in the subject area of physical 
education. 
 

B. Pupil Outcomes (State Priority: Other Pupil Outcomes) 
2020-21 California Physical Fitness Test Results 

2020-21 California Physical Fitness Test Results 

Due to the COVID-19 crisis, the Physical Fitness Test was suspended during the 2020-2021 school year and therefore no data 
are reported and each cell in this table is populated with “N/A.” 

Grade Level 
Percentage of Students Meeting 
Four of Six Fitness Standards 

Percentage of Students Meeting 
Five of Six Fitness Standards 

Percentage of Students Meeting 
Six of Six Fitness Standards 

Grade 5 N/A N/A N/A 

Grade 7 N/A N/A N/A 

Grade 9 N/A N/A N/A 
 

 

C. Engagement (State Priority: Parental Involvement) 

C. Engagement State Priority: Parental Involvement 
 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: Parental 
Involvement (Priority 3): Efforts the school district makes to seek parent input in 
making decisions regarding the school district and at each school site. 
 

 
2021-22 Opportunities for Parental Involvement 

2021-22 Opportunities for Parental Involvement 

Sierra County Office of Education welcomes parental involvement. This process is altered each year in accordance with 
student attendance, parent schedules and district school parent involvement activities. Parents are most involved with their 
children at their individual sites.-------- 

 



2021-22 School Accountability Report Card Page 12 of 22 Sierra County Special Education 

 

C. Engagement (State Priority: Pupil Engagement) 

C. Engagement State Priority: Pupil Engagement 
 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: Pupil 
Engagement (Priority 5): 
 

• High school dropout rates;  

• High school graduation rates; and 

• Chronic Absenteeism 
 

 
Dropout Rate and Graduation Rate (Four-Year Cohort Rate) 

Dropout Rate and Graduation Rate (Four-Year Cohort Rate) 

Indicator 
School 
2018-19 

School 
2019-20 

School 
2020-21 

District 
2018-19 

District 
2019-20 

District 
2020-21 

State 
2018-19 

State 
2019-20 

State 
2020-21 

Dropout Rate          

Graduation Rate          
 

 
2020-21 Graduation Rate by Student Group (Four-Year Cohort Rate) 

2020-21 Graduation Rate by Student Group (Four-Year Cohort Rate) 

This table displays the 2020-21 graduation rate by student group.  For information on the Four-Year Adjusted Cohort Graduation 
Rate (ACGR), visit the CDE Adjusted Cohort Graduation Rate web page at www.cde.ca.gov/ds/ad/acgrinfo.asp. 

Student Group 
Number of 

Students in Cohort 
Number of  

Cohort Graduates 
Cohort 

Graduation Rate 

All Students            

Female            

Male            

American Indian or Alaska Native            

Asian            

Black or African American             

Filipino            

Hispanic or Latino            

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander            

Two or More Races            

White            

English Learners            

Foster Youth            

Homeless            

Socioeconomically Disadvantaged            

Students Receiving Migrant Education Services            

Students with Disabilities             
 

 

http://www.cde.ca.gov/ds/ad/acgrinfo.asp


2021-22 School Accountability Report Card Page 13 of 22 Sierra County Special Education 

2020-21 Chronic Absenteeism by Student Group 

2020-21 Chronic Absenteeism by Student Group 

Student Group 
Cumulative 
Enrollment 

Chronic 
Absenteeism 

Eligible Enrollment 

Chronic 
Absenteeism 

Count 

Chronic 
Absenteeism 

Rate 

All Students             

Female             

Male             

American Indian or Alaska Native             

Asian             

Black or African American              

Filipino             

Hispanic or Latino             

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander             

Two or More Races             

White             

English Learners             

Foster Youth             

Homeless             

Socioeconomically Disadvantaged             

Students Receiving Migrant Education Services             

Students with Disabilities              
 

 

C. Engagement (State Priority: School Climate) 

C. Engagement State Priority: School Climate 
 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: School 
Climate (Priority 6): 
 

• Pupil suspension rates; 

• Pupil expulsion rates; and 

• Other local measures on the sense of safety 
 

 



2021-22 School Accountability Report Card Page 14 of 22 Sierra County Special Education 

Suspensions and Expulsions 

Suspensions and Expulsions 

This table displays suspensions and expulsions data collected between July through June, each full school year respectively.   
Data collected during the 2020-21 school year may not be comparable to earlier years of this collection due to differences in 
learning mode instruction in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Subject 
School 
2018-19 

School 
2020-21 

District 
2018-19 

District 
2020-21 

State 
2018-19 

State 
2020-21 

Suspensions       

Expulsions       

 
This table displays suspensions and expulsions data collected between July through February, partial school year due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic.  The 2019-2020 suspensions and expulsions rate data are not comparable to other year data because the 
2019-2020 school year is a partial school year due to the COVID-19 crisis. As such, it would be inappropriate to make any 
comparisons in rates of suspensions and expulsions in the 2019-2020 school year compared to other school years. 

Subject 
School 
2019-20 

District 
2019-20 

State 
2019-20 

Suspensions    

Expulsions    
 

 
2020-21 Suspensions and Expulsions by Student Group 

2020-21 Suspensions and Expulsions by Student Group 

Student Group Suspensions Rate Expulsions Rate 

All Students           

Female           

Male           

American Indian or Alaska Native           

Asian           

Black or African American            

Filipino           

Hispanic or Latino           

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander   

Two or More Races           

White           

English Learners           

Foster Youth           

Homeless           

Socioeconomically Disadvantaged           

Students Receiving Migrant Education Services           

Students with Disabilities            
 

 



2021-22 School Accountability Report Card Page 15 of 22 Sierra County Special Education 

2021-22 School Safety Plan 

2021-22 School Safety Plan 

Sierra County Office of Education is situated in a small rural town.  Staff members remain vigilant during school breaks and 
before and after school each day.  Being very small and intimate, the staff is very familiar with all of the parents, guardians and 
other family members of the children.  The school building is situated securely between Loyalton Elementary School and the 
District Office Complex. All visitors are asked to check in at the school office, and regular school volunteers are screened.   Our 
Safety Plan is based on the National Emergency Management System and is reviewed by the Board of Education annually. 
The plan covers emergency action procedures and general crisis management for potential situations in the classroom, outside 
the building and while on school buses.  The School Safety Plan is reviewed annually by the administrators and the Board of 
Education.   The school runs practice safety drills (fire, earthquake, intruder) several times a year on a surprise basis to monitor 
the effectiveness of each drill. This includes a week-long safety training for all staff and students.-------- 

 

 

D. Other SARC Information (Information Required in the SARC) 

D. Other SARC Information Information Required in the SARC 
 
The information in this section is required to be in the SARC but is not included in 
the state priorities for LCFF. 
 

 
2018-19 Elementary Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution 

2018-19 Elementary Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution 

This table displays the 2018-19 average class size and class size distribution.  The columns titled “Number of Classes” 
indicates how many classes fall into each size category (a range of total students per class).  The “Other” category is for multi-
grade level classes. 

Grade Level 
Average  

Class Size 
Number of Classes with  

1-20 Students 
Number of Classes with  

21-32 Students 
Number of Classes with  

33+ Students 

K            

1            

2            

3            

4            

5            

6            
 

 
2019-20 Elementary Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution 

2019-20 Elementary Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution 

This table displays the 2019-20 average class size and class size distribution.  The columns titled “Number of Classes” indicates 
how many classes fall into each size category (a range of total students per class).  The “Other” category is for multi-grade level 
classes. 

Grade Level 
Average  

Class Size 
Number of Classes with  

1-20 Students 
Number of Classes with  

21-32 Students 
Number of Classes with  

33+ Students 

K            

1            

2            

3            

4            

5            

6            
 

 



2021-22 School Accountability Report Card Page 16 of 22 Sierra County Special Education 

2020-21 Elementary Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution 

2020-21 Elementary Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution 

This table displays the 2020-21 average class size and class size distribution.  The columns titled “Number of Classes” indicates 
how many classes fall into each size category (a range of total students per class).  The “Other” category is for multi-grade level 
classes. 

Grade Level 
Average 

Class Size 
Number of Classes with  

1-20 Students 
Number of Classes with  

21-32 Students 
Number of Classes with  

33+ Students 

K            

1            

2            

3            

4            

5            

6            
 

 
2018-19 Secondary Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution 

2018-19 Secondary Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution 

This table displays the 2018-19 average class size and class size distribution.  The columns titled “Number of Classes” indicates 
how many classes fall into each size category (a range of total students per classroom). At the secondary school level, this 
information is reported by subject area rather than grade level. 

Subject 
Average  

Class 
 Size 

Number of Classes with  
1-22 Students 

Number of Classes with  
23-32 Students 

Number of Classes with  
33+ Students 

English Language Arts             

Mathematics             

Science             

Social Science             
 

 
2019-20 Secondary Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution 

2019-20 Secondary Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution 

This table displays the 2019-20 average class size and class size distribution.  The columns titled “Number of Classes” indicates 
how many classes fall into each size category (a range of total students per classroom). At the secondary school level, this 
information is reported by subject area rather than grade level. 

Subject 
Average  

Class 
 Size 

Number of Classes with  
1-22 Students 

Number of Classes with  
23-32 Students 

Number of Classes with  
33+ Students 

English Language Arts             

Mathematics             

Science             

Social Science             
 

 



2021-22 School Accountability Report Card Page 17 of 22 Sierra County Special Education 

2020-21 Secondary Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution 

2020-21 Secondary Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution 

This table displays the 2020-21 average class size and class size distribution.  The columns titled “Number of Classes” indicates 
how many classes fall into each size category (a range of total students per classroom). At the secondary school level, this 
information is reported by subject area rather than grade level. 

Subject 
Average  

Class 
 Size 

Number of Classes with  
1-22 Students 

Number of Classes with  
23-32 Students 

Number of Classes with  
33+ Students 

English Language Arts             

Mathematics             

Science             

Social Science             
 

 
2020-21 Ratio of Pupils to Academic Counselor 

2020-21 Ratio of Pupils to Academic Counselor 

This table displays the ratio of pupils to Academic Counselor.  One full time equivalent (FTE) equals one staff member working 
full time; one FTE could also represent two staff members who each work 50 percent of full time. 

Title Ratio 

Pupils to Academic Counselor  
 

 
2020-21 Student Support Services Staff 

2020-21 Student Support Services Staff 

This table displays the number of FTE support staff assigned to this school.  One full time equivalent (FTE) equals one staff 
member working full time; one FTE could also represent two staff members who each work 50 percent of full time. 

Title Number of FTE Assigned to School 

Counselor (Academic, Social/Behavioral or Career Development)  

Library Media Teacher (Librarian)  

Library Media Services Staff (Paraprofessional)  

Psychologist  

Social Worker  

Speech/Language/Hearing Specialist  

Resource Specialist (non-teaching)  
 

 
 



2021-22 School Accountability Report Card Page 18 of 22 Sierra County Special Education 

2019-20 Expenditures Per Pupil and School Site Teacher Salaries 

2019-20 Expenditures Per Pupil and School Site Teacher Salaries 

This table displays the 2019-20 expenditures per pupil and average teach salary for this school.  Cells with N/A values do not 
require data. 

Level 
Total 

Expenditures 
Per Pupil 

Expenditures 
Per Pupil 

(Restricted) 

Expenditures 
Per Pupil 

(Unrestricted) 

Average 
Teacher 
Salary 

School Site n/a n/a n/a n/a 

District N/A N/A n/a  

Percent Difference - School Site and District N/A N/A n/a n/a 

Percent Difference - School Site and State N/A N/A n/a n/a 
 

 
2020-21 Types of Services Funded 

2020-21 Types of Services Funded 

Sierra County Office of Education Special Education serves Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District students. Please see 
the Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District individual school sites' School Accountability Report Card for more detail.-------- 

 

 
2019-20 Teacher and Administrative Salaries 

2019-20 Teacher and Administrative Salaries 

This table displays the 2019-20 Teacher and Administrative salaries.  For detailed information on salaries, see the CDE 
Certification Salaries & Benefits web page at http://www.cde.ca.gov/ds/fd/cs/. 

Category 
District 
Amount 

State Average 
for Districts 

in Same Category 

Beginning Teacher Salary   

Mid-Range Teacher Salary   

Highest Teacher Salary   

Average Principal Salary (Elementary)   

Average Principal Salary (Middle)   

Average Principal Salary (High)   

Superintendent Salary   

Percent of Budget for Teacher Salaries   

Percent of Budget for Administrative Salaries   
 

 

http://www.cde.ca.gov/ds/fd/cs/


2021-22 School Accountability Report Card Page 19 of 22 Sierra County Special Education 

2020-21 Advanced Placement (AP) Courses 

2020-21 Advanced Placement (AP) Courses 

This table displays the percent of student in AP courses at this school. 

Percent of Students in AP Courses  

 
This table displays the number of AP courses offered at this school where there are student course enrollments of at least one 
student. 

Subject Number of AP Courses Offered 

Computer Science          

English          

Fine and Performing Arts          

Foreign Language           

Mathematics          

Science          

Social Science          

Total AP Courses Offered          
 

 
Professional Development 

Professional Development 

In conjunction with Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District, a Professional Learning Community (PLC) was implemented 
and meets regularly throughout the school year (typically 2 full days before students arrive on campus in the fall, additional full 
days as scheduled, and the remainder are partial days on Wednesdays with Early Release). The primary focus is the utilization 
of technology in order to increase student achievement. Please see the Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District individual 
school sites' School Accountability Report Card for more detail.------- 

 

This table displays the number of school days dedicated to staff development and continuous improvement. 

Subject 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 

Number of school days dedicated to Staff Development and Continuous Improvement 39 43  
 

 



2021-22 School Accountability Report Card Page 20 of 22 Sierra County Special Education 

Sierra County Office of Education 
2020-21 Local Accountability Report Card (LARC) Addendum 

2021-22 School Accountability Report Card 

Local Accountability Report Card (LARC) Addendum 

2020-21 Local Accountability Report 
Card (LARC) Addendum Overview 

 

 

On July 14, 2021, the California State Board of Education (SBE) determined that 
the California Department of Education (CDE) will use the SARC as the mechanism 
to conduct a one-time data collection of the LEA-level aggregate test results of all 
school’s local assessments administered during the 2020–2021 school year in 
order to meet the federal Every Students Succeeds Act (ESSA) reporting 
requirement for the Local Educational Agency Accountability Report Cards 
(LARCs). 
 
Each local educational agency (LEA) is responsible for preparing and posting their 
annual LARC in accordance with the federal ESSA. As a courtesy, the CDE 
prepares and posts the LARCs on behalf of all LEAs. 
 
Only for the 2020–2021 school year and the 2020–2021 LARCs, LEAs are required 
to report their aggregate local assessments test results at the LEA-level to the CDE 
by populating the tables below via the SARC. These data will be used to meet the 
LEAs’ federal requirement for their LARCs. Note that it is the responsibility of the 
school and LEA to ensure that all student privacy and suppression rules are in 
place when reporting data in Tables 3 and 4 in the Addendum, as applicable. 
 
The tables below are not part of the SBE approved 2020–2021 SARC template but 
rather are the mechanism by which these required data will be collected from LEAs. 
 
For purposes of the LARC and the following tables, an LEA is defined as a school 
district, a county office of education, or a direct funded charter school.         

 
2021-22 District Contact Information 

2021-22 District Contact Information 

District Name Sierra County Office of Education         

Phone Number 530-993-1660         

Superintendent  James Berardi         

Email Address jberardi@spjusd.org         

District Website Address www.sierracountyofficeofeducation.org        
 

 



2021-22 School Accountability Report Card Page 21 of 22 Sierra County Special Education 

2020-21 CAASPP Test Results in ELA by Student Group 

2020-21 CAASPP Test Results in ELA by Student Group 

This table displays CAASPP test results in ELA by student group for students grades three through eight and grade eleven taking 
and completing a state-administered assessment.  The CDE will populate this table for schools in cases where the school 
administered the CAASPP assessment.  In cases where the school administered a local assessment instead of CAASPP, the 
CDE will populate this table with “NT” values, meaning this school did not test students using the CAASPP. See the local 
assessment(s) table for more information. 

CAASPP 
Student Groups 

CAASPP 
Total  

Enrollment 

CAASPP 
Number  
Tested 

CAASPP 
Percent  
Tested 

CAASPP 
Percent 

Not Tested 

CAASPP 
Percent  
Met or 

Exceeded 

All Students              

Female              

Male              

American Indian or Alaska Native              

Asian              

Black or African American               

Filipino              

Hispanic or Latino              

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander              

Two or More Races              

White              

English Learners              

Foster Youth              

Homeless              

Military              

Socioeconomically Disadvantaged              

Students Receiving Migrant Education Services              

Students with Disabilities               
 

 



2021-22 School Accountability Report Card Page 22 of 22 Sierra County Special Education 

2020-21 CAASPP Test Results in Math by Student Group 

2020-21 CAASPP Test Results in Math by Student Group 

This table displays CAASPP test results in Math by student group for students grades three through eight and grade eleven taking 
and completing a state-administered assessment.  The CDE will populate this table for schools in cases where the school 
administered the CAASPP assessment.  In cases where the school administered a local assessment instead of CAASPP, the 
CDE will populate this table with “NT” values, meaning this school did not test students using the CAASPP. See the local 
assessment(s) table for more information. 

CAASPP 
Student Groups 

CAASPP 
Total  

Enrollment 

CAASPP 
Number  
Tested 

CAASPP 
Percent  
Tested 

CAASPP 
Percent 

Not Tested 

CAASPP 
Percent  
Met or 

Exceeded 

All Students              

Female              

Male              

American Indian or Alaska Native              

Asian              

Black or African American               

Filipino              

Hispanic or Latino              

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander              

Two or More Races              

White              

English Learners              

Foster Youth              

Homeless              

Military              

Socioeconomically Disadvantaged              

Students Receiving Migrant Education Services              

Students with Disabilities               
 

2020-21 Local Assessment Test Results in ELA by Student Group 

2020-21 Local Assessment Test Results in ELA by Student Group 

This table displays Local Assessment test results in ELA by student group for students grades three through eight and grade 
eleven.  LEAs/schools will populate this table for schools in cases where the school administered a local assessment.  In cases 
where the school administered the CAASPP assessment, LEAs/schools will populate this table with “N/A” values in all cells, 
meaning this table is Not Applicable for this school. 
*At or above the grade-level standard in the context of the local assessment administered. 

 
2020-21 Local Assessment Test Results in Math by Student Group 

2020-21 Local Assessment Test Results in Math by Student Group 

This table displays Local Assessment test results in Math by student group for students grades three through eight and grade 
eleven.  LEAs/schools will populate this table for schools in cases where the school administered a local assessment.  In cases 
where the school administered the CAASPP assessment, LEAs/schools will populate this table with “N/A” values in all cells, 
meaning this table is Not Applicable for this school. 
*At or above the grade-level standard in the context of the local assessment administered. 

 



Page 1 of 2 
 

CSBA POLICY GUIDE SHEET – February 08, 2022 
 

Note:  Descriptions below identify revisions made to CSBA's sample board policies, administrative regulations, 
board bylaws, and/or exhibits. Editorial changes have also been made. Districts and county offices of education 
should review the sample materials and modify their own policies accordingly. 

 
Administrative Regulation 4217.3 - Layoff/Rehire 

Regulation updated to add descriptions to the OPTION headings for the determination of "length of service" 
for order of layoff purposes, reflect NEW LAW (AB 438, 2021) which, for both merit and non-merit districts, 
specifies notice requirements and hearing rights districts must provide to permanent classified employees, as 
defined, who are subject to layoff due to lack of work or lack of funds, including that notice be given no later 
than March 15, and that classified staff may be reduced due to lack of work or lack of funds when the 
governing board determines during the time between five days after the enactment of an annual Budget Act 
and August 15 of the fiscal year to which the Budget Act applies that the district's local control funding 
formula apportionment per unit of average daily attendance for the fiscal year of the Budget Act has not 
increased by at least two percent. Regulation also updated to provide material regarding a permanent 
classified employee's request for a hearing, including a hearing before an administrative law judge in which 
the board makes the final decision regarding the sufficiency of the cause and disposition of the layoff, provide 
material regarding final notice before May 15 to employees affected by the layoff unless a continuance is 
granted, add material regarding notice to affected employees when classified positions are eliminated as a 
result of the expiration of a specifically funded program, and include that districts may release probationary 
classified employees without notice or hearing for reasons other than lack of work or lack of funds. 

 
 
Board Policy 6112 - School Day 

Policy updated to reflect clarification in the California Department of Education's Frequently Asked 
Questions about Independent Study that minimum school day requirements for regular school attendance 
apply to traditional independent study programs. 

 
Administrative Regulation 6112 - School Day 

Regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 131, 2021) which exempts activities related to the Expanded 
Learning Opportunity program from the calculation of the maximum school day for kindergarten and 
transitional kindergarten. Regulation also updated to specify when the school day may begin for students in 
middle and high schools, and to move material to enhance clarity. 

 
 
Board Policy 6158 - Independent Study 

Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 167, 2021) which relaxes certain independent study (IS) 
requirements with respect to any student who is unable to attend in-person instruction due to a quarantine or 
school closure during the 2021-22 school year and to incorporate California Department of Education 
program clarifications, including that a district is permitted to (1) require students who cannot participate in 
classroom-based instruction during the school year due to quarantine or school closure because of infection 
with or exposure to COVID-19 to participate in IS, (2) claim apportionment credit for such students' 
participation in IS for fewer than the minimum three consecutive days generally required for IS, and (3) 
obtain a signed written agreement from each participating student not later than 30 days after IS begins, rather 
than before a student may participate in IS.  

 
Administrative Regulation 6158 - Independent Study 

Regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 167, 2021) which permits districts to offer Independent Study 
(IS) to students who are unable to attend in-person instruction due to a quarantine pursuant to local or state 
public health guidance because of exposure to or infection with COVID-19.  Regulation also revised to clarify 
that a student must be enrolled in school in order to participate in IS. 

 
 
 



Page 2 of 2 
 

Board Policy 6170.1 - Transitional Kindergarten 
Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 130, 2021) which (1) gradually revises the timespans for 
mandatory transitional kindergarten (TK) admittance such that, by the 2025-26 school year, children who 
turn four by September 1 will be eligible for TK, (2) establishes the California Prekindergarten Planning and 
Implementation Grant Program as an early learning initiative with the goal of expanding access to classroom-
based prekindergarten programs at districts, including but not limited to TK programs, and which requires 
districts to develop a plan for how all children in the attendance area of the district will have access to full-
day learning programs the year before kindergarten, (3) establishes the California Preschool, Transitional 
Kindergarten, and Full-Day Kindergarten Facilities Grant Program to provide one-time grants to school 
districts to construct new school facilities or retrofit existing school facilities including for the purpose of 
providing TK classrooms, (4) prohibits TK eligibility  from impacting family eligibility for a preschool or 
childcare program, and (5) requires districts to maintain an average TK class enrollment of not more than 24 
students for each school site and which, commencing with the 2022–23 school year, requires districts to 
maintain an average of at least one adult for every 12 students for TK classrooms and, contingent upon an 
appropriation of funding, maintain an average of at least one adult for every 10 students commencing with 
the 2023-24 school year. Policy also updated to reflect requirements for programs that commingle preschool-
age and TK students.   

 
 
Board Bylaw 9320 - Meetings and Notices 

Bylaw updated to clarify that it is discussion among themselves, via technology, of a majority of the 
governing board regarding an item within the subject matter jurisdiction of the board that can result in a 
violation of the Brown Act, and that agenda materials are required to be made available for public inspection 
at the time the materials are distributed to all or a majority of the board when agenda materials relating to an 
open session of a regular meeting are distributed to the board less than 72 hours before the meeting. Bylaw 
also updated to add a new section "Teleconferencing During a Proclaimed State of Emergency" which reflects 
NEW LAW (AB 361, 2021) that (1) authorizes boards, until January 1, 2024, to conduct board meetings by 
teleconference, as specified, without meeting certain requirements otherwise required of teleconference 
meetings when holding a board meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency when state or local officials 
have imposed or recommend measures to promote social distancing; to determine whether, as a result of an 
emergency, meeting in person would present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees; or when it 
has been determined, as a result of an emergency, that meeting in person would present imminent risks to the 
health or safety of attendees, (2) includes that the district may, in its discretion, provide a physical location 
from which the public may attend or comment and, (3) provides that the board may continue to conduct 
meetings by teleconference during proclaimed states of emergency by a majority vote finding within 30 days 
after teleconferencing for the first time and every 30 days thereafter that either the state of emergency 
continues to directly impact the ability of the board to meet safely in person or that state or local officials 
continue to impose or recommend measures to promote social distancing. 



Page 1 of 5 
**Revisions** 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Classified Personnel 
Regulation 4217.3: Layoff/Rehire 

 

Original Adopted Date: 04/10/2007 | Last Revised Date: 05/14/2013  
 

Note:  The following optional regulation is subject to collective bargaining, and may be deleted by those districts whose 
agreements fully cover the provisions specified below. 
 
Education Code 45114, 45117, 45298 and 45308 establish the procedures by which the Governing Board may lay off and 
reemploy classified employees. 
 
Because of the complexity of related Education Code provisions and the interaction with collective bargaining agreements, 
it is strongly recommended that the district consult with legal counsel before instituting layoff proceedings. 

 
Classified employees shall be subject to layoff for lack of work or lack of funds.  (Education Code 45114, 
45308) 
 
A classified employee shall not be laid off if a short-term employee who is employed for 45 days is retained 
to render a service that the classified employee is qualified to render.  (Education Code 45117) 
(cf. 4121 - Temporary/Substitute Personnel) 
 
Order of Layoff Within a Classification/Determination of Seniority 
 
Within each class, the order of layoff shall be determined by length of service.  (Education Code 45114, 
45308) 
 

Note:  For any district whose average daily attendance (ADA) is under 400,000, Education Code 45308 defines "length 
of service" as employees' hours in paid status (Option 1 below).  However, such a district may instead choose to enter into 
an agreement with the exclusive representative of classified employees to determine "length of service" based on an 
employee's date of hire (Option 2 below). 
 
For any district with an ADA of 400,000 or higher, Education Code 45308 requires length of service to be based on the 
date of hire; such districts should select Option 2 below. 
 
"Date of hire" is not defined in the law and could refer to the employee's first date of hire in the district or the employee's 
date of hire in the classification or higher classification. Districts selecting Option 2 below may revise the applicable 
paragraph to reflect the definition determined by the district or by agreement with the exclusive representative of classified 
employees, as applicable. 

 
"Length of service" means all hours in paid status, whether during the school year, a holiday, recess, or 
during any period that school is in session or closed.  However, length of service shall not include hours 
compensated solely on an overtime basis, as provided in Education Code 45128, and shall not include 
hours for any service performed prior to entering into probationary or permanent status, except for 
service in a restricted position pursuant to Education Code 45105.  (Education Code 45308) 
 
The employee who has been employed the shortest time in the class, plus higher classes, shall be laid off 
first.  (Education Code 45308) 
 
For an employee who is a member of the Military Reserve or the National Guard, length of service credit 
shall be granted for military leave of absence, including voluntary or involuntary active duty during a 
period of national emergency or war.  (Education Code 45297, 45308) 
(cf. 4161.5/4261.5/4361.5 - Military Leave) 
 



Page 2 of 5 
 

Length of service credit may be granted for time spent on unpaid illness or maternity leave, unpaid family 
care leave, or unpaid industrial accident leave.  Length of service credit shall not be granted for other 
types of unpaid leaves.  (Education Code 45308) 
(cf. 4161.8/4261.8/4361.8 - Family Care and Medical Leave) 
(cf. 4261.1 - Personal Illness/Injury Leave) 
(cf. 4161.11/4261.11/4361.11 - Industrial Accident/Illness Leave) 
 

Note:  The following paragraph applies to both Options 1 and 2.  Pursuant to Education Code 45105 and 45259, persons 
employed in "restricted positions" are classified employees.  However, they do not acquire permanent status or seniority 
credits unless they satisfy the conditions specified below. 

 
For an employee in a "restricted position" under Education Code 45105 or 45259, the original date of 
employment in the restricted position shall be used to determine his/herthe length of service, provided 
he/shethe employee has completed six months of satisfactory service and has successfully passed the 
qualifying examination required for service in the class.  (Education Code 45105) 
(cf. 4200 - Classified Personnel) 
 
Notice of Layoff and Hearing Rights 
 

Note:  Education Code 45117 applies to both districts that have adopted the merit system and those that have not. 
Education Code 45117, as amended by AB 438 (Ch. 665, Statutes of 2021), specifies notice requirements and hearing 
rights the district must provide to permanent classified employees, as defined, who are subject to layoff due to lack of 
work or lack of funds, including that notice be given no later than March 15. If a permanent classified employee is not 
given the required notice and a right to a hearing in accordance with law, the employee is deemed reemployed for the next 
school year. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 45117, as amended by AB 438, a "permanent employee" is defined as an employee who was 
permanent at the time the notice or right to a hearing was required and an employee who became permanent after the date 
of the required notice. 

 
Whenever a permanent classified employee is to be laid off for lack of work or lack of funds, the 
Superintendent or designee shall, no later than March 15 and before the employee is given formal notice 
by the Governing Board, give to the employee written notice shall be given to the employee, informing 
him/her of the layoff,recommendation, the reasons that the dateemployee's services will not be required 
for the layoff goes into effectensuing year, any displacement rights, and reemployment rights. The notice 
shall be given:, and the employee's right to a hearing. The district shall adhere to the notice, hearing, and 
layoff procedures in Education Code 45117, Government Code 11503 and 11505, and other applicable 
provisions of law.  (Education Code 45117) 

1. At least 60 days prior to the effective date of the layoff, if the layoff is for lack of work resulting from a bona 
fide reduction or elimination of service being performed. 

2. No later than April 29, if the layoff is for lack of funds due to the expiration of a specially funded program at 
the end of any school year. However, if the termination date of the specially funded program is other than June 
30, the employee shall be given notice at least 60 days from the effective date of the layoff. 

An employee who is so notified may request a hearing to determine if there is cause for not reemploying 
the employee for the ensuing year. The request shall be in writing and shall be delivered to the person 
who sent notice to the employee, on or before March 15 but not less than seven days after the date the 
notice is served on the employee. Failure of an employee to request a hearing on or before the date 
specified shall constitute a waiver of the employee's right to a hearing.  (Education Code 45117) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall serve an employee who timely requests a hearing with the District 
Statement of Reduction in Force documents. The employee has five calendar days from service of the 
District Statement of Reduction in Force documents to timely file a notice of participation with the 



Page 3 of 5 
 

district. The parties are entitled to discovery, if requested within 15 days of service of the District 
Statement of Reduction in Force documents.  (Education Code 45117) 
 

Note:  Education Code 45117, as amended by AB 438, allows permanent classified employees given notice of a layoff to 
request a hearing before an administrative law judge. On or before May 7, the administrative judge is required to submit 
the proposed decision, containing a determination as to the sufficiency of the cause and a recommendation as to disposition 
regarding the layoff, to the Board for consideration and to the affected employee(s). 

 
If a hearing is requested by a permanent classified employee, the proceeding shall be conducted and a 
decision made by an administrative law judge in accordance with Government Code 11500-11529. The 
Board shall make a final decision regarding the sufficiency of the cause and disposition of the layoff 
upon receipt of the administrative law judge's proposed decision. None of the findings, 
recommendations, or determinations in the proposed decision prepared by the administrative law judge 
shall be binding on the Board.  (Education Code 45117) 
 
Following the Board's decision, the Superintendent or designee shall give final notice of termination to 
the affected employee(s) before May 15 unless a continuance was granted after a request for hearing was 
made, in which case such date may be extended by the number of days of the continuance.  (Education 
Code 45117) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 45117, as amended by AB 438, the district may reduce classified staff due to lack of 
work or lack of funds when the Board determines, during the time between five days after the enactment of the Budget 
Act and August 15, that the district's total local control funding formula apportionment per unit of ADA for the fiscal year 
of the Budget Act has not increased by at least two percent. 

 
If during the time between five days after the enactment of an annual Budget Act and August 15 of the 
fiscal year to which the Budget Act applies, the Board determines that the district's local control funding 
formula apportionment per unit of ADA for that fiscal year has not increased by at least two percent, and 
that it is therefore necessary to decrease the number of classified employees due to lack of work or lack 
of funds, the Board may issue a District Statement of Reduction in Force to those employees in 
accordance with a schedule of notice and hearing adopted by the Board, and layoff proceedings shall be 
carried out as required by law.  (Education Code 45117) 
(cf. 4112.9/4212.9/4312.9 - Employee Notifications) 

The district is not required to provide the 60-day notice in the event of an actual and existing financial inability to 
pay the salaries of classified employees or if the layoff is due to a lack of work resulting from conditions not 
foreseeable or preventable by the district. (Education Code 45117) 

The district also is not required to provide the 60-day 
 
When classified positions are eliminated as a result of the expiration of a specifically funded program, 
the district shall give written notice to the affected employee(s) not less than 60 days prior to the effective 
date of the layoff informing the employee(s) of the layoff date, any displacement rights, and employment 
rights.  (Education Code 45117) 
 
The district is not required to provide a layoff notice to any person hired as a short-term employee for a 
period not exceeding 60 days whose service may not be extended or renewed.  (Education Code 45117) 
 
Additionally, the district may release probationary classified employees without notice or hearing for 
reasons other than lack of work or lack of funds.  (Education Code 45117) 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 4 of 5 
 

Reemployment 
 

Note:  The following optional section specifies the rights of employees who are laid off or who take voluntary demotion 
or reduction in assigned time in lieu of layoff.  Pursuant to Education Code 45308, laid-off classified employees have 
reemployment rights which are enforced in order of seniority rather than reverse order of layoff.  In Tucker v. Grossmont 
Union High School District, a California appellate court ruled that a laid-off employee's reemployment right entitled the 
employee to preference over any new applicant to available positions for which the employee is qualified, including 
positions in different classes from which the employee was laid off. 

 
Classified employees laid off because of lack of work or lack of funds shall be eligible for reemployment 
for a period of 39 months and shall be reemployed in preference to new applicants.  Reemployment shall 
be in order of seniority.  Persons so laid off also have the right to apply and establish their qualification 
for vacant promotional positions within the district during the 39-month period.  (Education Code 45114, 
45298, 45308) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to San Mateo City School District v. Public Employment Relations Board, districts may adopt procedures 
which implement Education Code 45113 and 45114 as long as such procedures do not replace or set aside mandatory 
Education Code provisions.  These procedures may be adopted pursuant to Board policy and/or collective bargaining 
agreement. 
 
The following optional paragraph should be deleted by districts with a collective bargaining agreement that contains 
reemployment procedures, unless the district also has unrepresented classified employees. 

 
When a vacancy occurs, the district shall give the employee with the most seniority an opportunity to 
accept or reject the position, by first calling the employee at his/herthe employee's last known telephone 
number to notify him/herthe employee of the vacancy and then sending written notice by certified and 
standard mail to his/herthe employee's last known address. The employee shall advise the district of 
his/herthe decision by any means no later than 10 calendar days from the date the notice was sent. If the 
employee accepts, he/shethe employee shall report to work no later than two calendar weeks from the 
vacancy notification date or on a later date specified by the district. 
 

Note:  The following paragraph is optional and may be modified to reflect district practice. 
 
In order to be reemployed, the employee must be capable of performing the essential duties of the job 
with or without reasonable accommodations. When an otherwise eligible employee is unable to perform 
the essential duties of the job, he/shethe employee shall be kept on the reemployment list until another 
opportunity becomes available or the period of reemployment eligibility expires, whichever occurs first. 
(cf. 4032 - Reasonable Accommodation) 
 

Note:  An argument can be made that, absent a collective bargaining provision to the contrary, once a district has offered 
a laid-off classified employee a position pursuant to the employee's reemployment rights under Education Code 45298 
and that employee has refused the position, the district has discharged its duty to that employee.  Whether such action 
conflicts with an employee's statutory right to reemployment is unclear. 
 
The following two optional paragraphs should be used only with the approval of the district's legal counsel; the number 
of refusals that will trigger the removal of the employee's name from the district's reemployment list should be modified 
accordingly. 

 
Upon rejecting two offers of reemployment, the employee's name shall be removed from the 
reemployment list and he/shethe employee will forfeit all reemployment rights to which he/shethe 
employee would otherwise be entitled. 
 
When an employee is notified of a vacancy and fails to respond or report to work within time limits 
specified by district procedures, his/herthe employee's name shall be removed from the reemployment 
list and all reemployment rights to which he/shethe employee would otherwise be entitled shall be 
forfeited. 



Page 5 of 5 
 

 
If an employee is employedreemployed in a new position and fails to complete the probationary period 
in the new position, he/shethe employee shall be returned to the reemployment list for the remainder of 
the 39-month period. The remaining time period shall be calculated as the time remaining in the 39-
month period as of the date of reemployment.  (Education Code 45114, 45298) 
 
Reinstatement of Benefits 
 

Note:  The following optional section should be deleted by districts that do not reinstate laid-off employee benefits upon 
reemployment and those whose collective bargaining agreements address the issue. 

 
When a laid-off employee is reemployed, all accumulated sick leave credit shall be restored. 
 
A laid-off permanent employee shall be reemployed with all rights and benefits accorded to him/her at 
the time of layoff. 
 
A laid-off probationary employee shall be reemployed as a probationary employee, and the previous 
time served toward the completion of the required probationary period shall be counted. He/sheThe 
employee shall also be reemployed with all rights and benefits accorded to a probationary employee at 
the time of layoff. 
 
A laid-off employee, when reemployed, shall be placed on the salary step held at the time of layoff. An 
employee who was bumped into a lower class shall, when reinstated to the previous class, be placed on 
the salary step to which he/shethe employee would have progressed had he/shethe employee remained 
there. An adjusted anniversary date shall be established for step increment purposes so as to reflect the 
actual amount of time served in the district. 
 
Voluntary Demotion or Reduction of Hours 
 
Classified employees who take voluntary demotion or voluntary reduction in assigned time in lieu of 
layoff, or in order to remain in their present position rather than be reclassified or reassigned, shall be 
granted the same rights as employees who are laid off.  In addition, such employees shall retain eligibility 
to be considered for reemployment in their previously held class or position with increased assigned 
time, for an additional period of time up to 24 months as determined by the Board of Education on a class-
by-class basis, provided that the same test of fitness under which they qualified for appointment to that 
class shall still apply.  (Education Code 45114, 45298) 
 
Employees who take voluntary demotion or voluntary reduction in assigned time in lieu of layoff shall 
have the option of returning to a position in their former class or to positions with increased assigned 
time as vacancies become available and without limitation of time.  If there is a valid reemployment list, 
they shall be ranked on that list in accordance with their proper seniority.  (Education Code 45114, 
45298) 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007 
revised: February 14, 2012 
revised: May 14, 2013 
revised: February 08, 2022 





Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Instruction 
Policy 6112: School Day 

 

Original Adopted Date: 04/10/2007 | Last Revised Date: 06/19/2013  
 

Note:  The following optional policy may be revised to reflect district practice. California law specifies the minimum length 
of the school day for elementary and secondary schools; see the accompanying administrative regulation.  In its Frequently 
Asked Questions about independent study, the California Department of Education (CDE) has clarified that the same 
minimum school day requirements apply to traditional independent study as for students attending in-person instruction. 

 
The Governing Board shall fix the length of the school day subject to the provisions ofin accordance with 
law.  (Education Code 46100) 
(cf. 6111 - School Calendar) 
 
At each school, the length of the school day shall apply equally tobe the same for all students with disabilities 
unless, except as otherwise permitted by law. For any student with a disability, the length of the school day 
shall be as specified in the student's individualized education program or Section 504 plan. 
(cf. 6158 - Independent Study) 
(cf. 6159 - Individualized Education Program) 
(cf. 6164.6 - Identification and Education Under Section 504) 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that maintain elementary schools and may be modified to 
reflect district practice. Pursuant to Education Code 33350, CDE encourages districts to provide daily recess periods for 
elementary students, featuring time for unstructured but supervised play. The Superintendent of Public Instruction's Task 
Force on Obesity, Type 2 Diabetes, and Cardiovascular Disease recommends that students in grades K-6 be provided with 
recess or other physical activity breaks at least once per 120 minutes of instruction. The National Association for Sport and 
Physical Education recommends daily recess breaks of at least 20 minutes each day. 

 
The daily schedule for elementary schools shall include at least one daily period of recess of at least 1520 
minutes in length in order to provide, during which students with unstructured butshall be provided supervised 
opportunities forto engage in unstructured physical activity. 
(cf. 5030 - Student Wellness) 
(cf. 6142.7 - Physical Education and Activity) 
 

Note:  The remainder of this policy applies to districts that maintain secondary schools and may be modified to reflect district 
practice. 

 
In establishing the daily instructional schedule for each secondary school, the Superintendent or designee 
shall give consideration to course requirements and curricular demands, availability of school facilities, and 
applicable legal requirements. 
 
The Board encourages flexibility in scheduling so as to provide longer time blocks or class periods when 
appropriate and desirable to support student learning, provide more intensive study of core academic 
subjects or extended exploration of complex topics, and reduce transition time between classes. 
 
Prior to implementing a block or alternative schedule that will allow secondary students to attend school 
for fewer school days than the total number of school days for which the school is in session, the Board 
shall consult in good faith, in an effort to reach agreement with the certificated and classified employees of 
the school, parents/guardians of the students who would be affected by the change, and the community at 
large.  Such consultation shall include at least one public hearing for which the Board shall give adequate 
notice to the employees and to the parents/guardians of affected students.  (Education Code 46162) 
(cf. 9320 - Meetings and Notices) 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: April 10, 2007 
revised: June 19, 2013 
revised: February 08, 2022 





Page 1 of 4 
**Revisions** 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Regulation 6112: School Day  
Original Adopted Date: 09/25/2019 | Last Revised Date: 06/19/2013  
 

Note:  The following optional administrative regulation specifies minimum and maximum school days for each grade 
level as provided by law. The district may revise this regulation to reflect district practice. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 46114, the minimum school day in grades K-8 may be computed by determining the average 
number of minutes over 10 consecutive school days (i.e., the number of minutes of attendance in any 10 consecutive 
school days, divided by 10). Education Code 46142 authorizes the minimum school day in junior high and high schools 
to be computed by averaging the number of minutes over two consecutive school days. The district will be in compliance 
if the average is at least the minimum day required by law, even if the number of minutes in any one school day is less 
than the minimum required school day specified below. However, Education Code 46114 and 46142 provide that no 
single school day may be less than 60 minutes for kindergarten, 170 minutes for grades 1-3, or 180 minutes for grades 4-
12. 
 
Education Code 46201 and 46207 require districts that have reached their local control funding formula (LCFF) funding 
target, as well as districts that received longer day or longer year funding prior to the implementation of the LCFF, to 
offer at least the following instructional minutes per school year:  36,000 minutes for kindergarten, 50,400 for grades 1-
3, 54,000 for grades 4-8, and 64,800 for grades 9-12. Pursuant to Education Code 46201 and 46207, if this requirement is 
not met for any grade level, a portion of the district's LCFF allocation will be withheld. 

 
Kindergarten/Transitional Kindergarten 
 

Note:  The following section is for use by districts that maintain kindergarten and transitional kindergarten (TK) classes. 
Education Code 37202 permits districts to maintain kindergarten or TK classes for different lengths of time during the 
school day, either at the same or different school sites. Districts offering kindergarten or TK classes for different lengths 
of time are still required to meet the minimum and maximum length of school day described below. 

 
Kindergarten and transitional kindergarten (TK) classes in district schools may be maintained for 
different lengths of time, either at the same or different school sites.  (Education Code 37202) 
 

Note:  Education Code 46117 establishes a minimum school day of three hours (180 minutes) for kindergarten students. 
However, pursuant to Education Code 46119, if a district has fewer than 40 kindergarten students, the Governing Board 
may apply to the Superintendent of Public Instruction to maintain two kindergarten classes of 150 minutes each, including 
recesses, taught on the same day by the same teacher. 

 
The average school day for kindergarten and TK students shall be at least three hours, including recesses 
but excluding noon intermissions, but no. If fewer than 40 students are enrolled in kindergarten classes, 
the district may request approval of the Superintendent of Public Instruction to maintain two kindergarten 
classes of 150 minutes each.  (Education Code 46114, 46115, 46117, 46119) 
 

Note:  Education Code 46111 limits the maximum length of the school day for kindergarten to four hours, not counting 
recesses, except where the school is operating an early primary program pursuant to Education Code 8970-8974 or an 
expanded learning opportunity program established pursuant to Education Code 46120, as added by AB 130 (Ch. 44, 
Statutes of 2021). 

 
In any school day, kindergarten and/or TK students shall not be kept in school for longer than four hours, 
excluding recesses. (Education Code 46111, 46114, 46115, 46117, except where the school is operating an 
early primary program pursuant to Education Code 8970-8974 or an expanded learning opportunity 
program pursuant to Education Code 46120.  (Education Code 46111, 46115, 46120) 



Page 2 of 4 

Recess may be counted as instructional minutes for purposes of determining the maximum school day if teacher 
supervision occurs. 

In any multitrack year-round school operating pursuant to Education Code 37670(a), the kindergarten school day 
may be up to 265 minutes, excluding recesses. (Education Code 46111) 
(cf. 6117 - Year-Round Schedules) 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that have established an early primary program pursuant 
to Education Code 8970-8974 in order to provide an integrated, experiential, and developmentally appropriate educational 
program with specified components for students in prekindergarten through grade 3. Education Code 8973 provides that 
the kindergarten school day in such programs may exceed four hours under the conditions described below, although 
districts do not receive additional apportionment funds for the excess time. 

 
In any district school operating an early primary program pursuant to Education Code 8970-8974, the 
kindergarten school day may exceed four hours, excluding recess, if both of the following conditions are 
met:  (Education Code 8973) 
 
1.  The Governing Board of Education has declared that the extended-day kindergarten program does 

not exceed the length of the primary school day. 
 
2.  The extended-day kindergarten program includes ample opportunity for both active and quiet 

activities within an integrated, experiential, and developmentally appropriate educational 
program. 

 
Note:  The following paragraph is optional. Although Education Code 46111 provides that recess shall be excluded from 
determining the maximum school day, it is the interpretation of the California Department of Education (CDE) that recess 
time may be counted as instructional minutes, at the district's discretion, if teacher supervision occurs. 

 
Under an extended day kindergarten program, recess may be counted as instructional minutes for 
purposes of determining the maximum school day if it occurs under teacher supervision. 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48003, districts are required to provide an annual report to CDE regarding the type of 
kindergarten program offered by the district, including part day, full day, or both, by completing the School Information 
Form 2017 located on CDE's web site. The form also includes the type(s) of TK program offered. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall annually report to the California Department of Education as to 
whether the district's kindergarten and TK programs are offered full day, part day, or both.  (Education 
Code 48003) 
 
Grades 1-8 
 

Note:  The following section is for use by districts that maintain any of grades 1-8 and should be modified to reflect the 
grade levels offered by the district. 

 
Except as otherwise provided by law, the school day for elementary and middle school students shall be: 
 
1.  At least 230 minutes for students in grades 1-3, unless the Board has prescribed a shorter school 

day because of lack of school facilities requiring double sessions, in which case the minimum 
school day shall be 200 minutes.  (Education Code 46112, 46142) 

 
2.  At least 240 minutes for students in grades 4-8  (Education Code 46113, 46142) 
 



Page 3 of 4 

In determining the number of minutes for purposes of compliance with the minimum school day for 
students in grades 1-8, both noon intermissions and recesses shall be excluded.  (Education Code 46115) 
 
Grades 9-12 
 
The school day for students in grades 9-12, including students in the traditional independent study 
program, shall be at least 240 minutes.  (Education Code 46141, 46142) 
(cf. 6158 - Independent Study) 
 

Note:  The following list should be revised to reflect programs offered by the district. 
 
However, the school day may be less than 240 minutes when authorized by law.  Programs that have a 
minimum school day of 180 minutes include, but are not necessarily limited to: 
 
1.  Continuation high school or classes  (Education Code 46141, 46170) 

(cf. 6184 - Continuation Education) 
 
2.  Opportunity school or classes  (Education Code 46141, 46180) 
 
3.  Regional occupational center  (Education Code 46141, 52325) 

(cf. 6178.2 - Regional Occupational Center/Program) 
 
4.  Work experience education program approved pursuant to Education Code 51760-51769.5  

(Education Code 46141, 46144) 
 

A student in grade 12 who is enrolled in work experience education and is in his/herthe last 
semester or quarter before graduation may, upon written request by the student's parent/guardian 
or the student, if 18 years of age or over, be permitted to attend school for less than 180 minutes 
per school day if he/she would complete all requirements for graduation would be completed, 
except physical education courses, in less than 180 minutes each day.  (Education Code 46147) 
(cf. 6178.1 - Work-Based Learning) 

 
5.  Concurrent enrollment in a community college pursuant to Education Code 48800-48802 or, for 

students in grades 11-12, part-time enrollment in classes of the California State University or 
University of California, provided academic credit will be awarded upon satisfactory completion 
of enrolled courses  (Education Code 46146) 
(cf. 6172.1 - Concurrent Enrollment in College Classes) 

 
6. Adult education classes  (Education Code 46190) 

(cf. 6200 - Adult Education) 
 
Students in grade 12 shall be enrolled in at least five courses each semester or the equivalent number of 
courses each quarter. This requirement shall not apply to students enrolled in regional occupational 
centers or programs, courses at accredited postsecondary institutions, independent study, special 
education programs in which the student's individualized education program establishes a different 
number of courses, continuation education classes, work experience education programs, or any other 
course of study authorized by the Board that is equivalent to the approved high school course of study.  
(Education Code 46145) 
(cf. 6158 - Independent Study) 
(cf. 6159 - Individualized Education Program) 
 



Page 4 of 4 

Alternative Block Schedule for Secondary Schools 
 

Note:  The following optional section is for use by districts that choose to create a block schedule pursuant to Education 
Code 46160-46162; see the accompanying Board policy. In establishing a block schedule, the district should be aware of 
state law (Education Code 51222) that requires secondary students to attend physical education courses for at least 400 
minutes each 10 school days; see AR 6142.7 - Physical Education and Activity. Although the daily alternating block 
schedule, often referred to as the A/B block schedule, does fulfill the requirement for physical education minutes, other 
block schedules do not and thus require a waiver from the State Board of Education (SBE). See SBE Waiver Policy #99-
03 for waiver criteria. 

 
In order to establish a block or other alternative schedule or to accommodate career technical education 
and regional occupational center/program courses, the district may authorize students to attend fewer 
than the total number of days in which school is in session provided that students attend classes for at 
least 1,200 minutes during any five school day period or 2,400 minutes during any 10 school day period.  
(Education Code 46160) 

Prior to implementing a block schedule program in which secondary students attend class for fewer school days, 
the Board shall consult with the certificated and classified employees of the school in a good faith effort to reach 
agreement and shall also consult with parents/guardians of the students who would be affected by the change and 
the community at large. Such consultation shall include at least one public hearing for which the Board has given 
adequate notice to the employees and to the parents/guardians of affected students. (Education Code 46162) 

 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007 
revised: June 19, 2013 
revised: February 08, 2022 



Page 1 of 13 
**Revisions** 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Instruction 
Policy 6158: Independent Study 

 

Original Adopted Date: 04/10/2007 | Last Revised Date: 08/10/2021 | Last Reviewed Date: 08/10/2021  
 

Note:  Education Code 51745-51749.6 authorize districts to establish independent study programs to meet the 
educational needs of students.  Pursuant to Education Code 51745, as amended by AB 130 (Ch. 44, Statutes of 2021), 
for the 2021-22 school year, all districts are required to offer independent study to meet the educational needs of 
students. 
 
AB 167 (Ch. 252, Statutes of 2021) amended various Education Code provisions related to independent study, as 
reflected throughout this policy and the accompanying administrative regulation. Education Code 51747, as amended by 
AB 167, authorizes a district to receive apportionment credit for independent study for any student who is unable to 
attend in-person instruction due to a quarantine, under a local or state public health guidance, for exposure to or 
infection with COVID-19 or due to a school closure for COVID-19, pursuant to Education Code 41422. 
 
Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 130, mandates that the Governing Board adopt a policy with specified 
requirements as a condition of receiving state apportionments for independent study students.  In addition to meeting the 
requirements specified by Education Code 51747, board policies must comply with rules and regulations adopted by the 
Superintendent of Public Instruction (SPI).  Boards are encouraged to review independent study policies as the SPI 
adopts revised rules to reflect the new requirements of AB 130. 
 
Education Code 51749.5 mandates that the Board adopt policy with specified components as a condition of offering a 
program of course-based independent study.  The mandated components are reflected throughout this policy and the 
accompanying administrative regulation. 
 
Commencing with the 2021-22 fiscal year Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education Agencies and State 
Compliance Reporting, the State Controller is required to incorporate verification of the adoption of the policies and 
other requirements, including loss of apportionment for independent study pursuant to Education Code 51747 and 
51749.5 for districts found to be noncompliant. 
 
When developing policy on independent study, 5 CCR 11701 requires the Board to consider, in a public hearing, (1) the 
scope of its existing or prospective use of independent study as an instructional strategy, (2) its purposes in authorizing 
independent study, and (3) factors bearing specifically on the maximum realistic lengths of assignments and acceptable 
number of missed assignments for specific populations of students or adult students. 
 
In the event of a school closure necessitated by an emergency condition pursuant to Education Code 46392, districts 
must develop a plan for offering independent study to affected students pursuant to Education Code 46393, as added by 
AB 130 and amended by AB 167. See BP 3516.5 - Emergency Schedules. 
 
Independent study may be offered as a program within a school, as a charter school, or as an alternative school of choice 
pursuant to Education Code 58500-58512; see AR 0420.4 - Charter School Authorization, BP 6146.11 - Alternative 
Credits Toward Graduation and BP/AR 6181 - Alternative Schools/Programs of Choice. 

 
The Governing Board authorizes independent study as an optional alternative instructional strategy for 
students whose needs may be best met through study outside of the regular classroom 
setting.  Independent study shall offer a means of individualizing the educational plan to serve students 
who desire a more challenging educational experience, whose health or other personal circumstances 
make classroom attendance difficult, who are unable to access course(s) due to scheduling problems, 
and/or who need to make up credits or fill gaps in their learning.   As necessary to meet student needs, 
independent study may be offered on a full-time basis or on a part-time basis and in conjunction with 
part- or full-time classroom study. 
 
The Superintendent or designee may provide a variety of independent study opportunities, including, 
but not limited to, through a program or class within a comprehensive school, an alternative school or 
program of choice, a charter school, and an online course. 
(cf. 0420.4 - Charter School Authorization) 



Page 2 of 13 

(cf. 6181 - Alternative Schools/Programs of Choice) 
 

Note:  Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 167, relaxes certain independent study requirements for the 2021-22 
school year as to students who are unable to participate in classroom-based instruction due to a quarantine order or 
school closure due to COVID-19, including the requirement that participation in independent study be voluntary. 
 
The California Department of Education (CDE), in its 2021-22 AA & IT Independent Study FAQs, interpreted 
Education Code 51747 as permitting a district to require a student to participate in independent study under 
circumstances specified in the following paragraph. 

 
Except for students who, during the 2021-2022 school year, cannot participate in classroom-based 
instruction due to quarantine or school closure for exposure to or infection with COVID-19, student 
participation in independent study shall be voluntary.   (Education Code 51747, 51749.5), 51749.6) 
 
Independent study for each student shall be under the general supervision of a district employee who 
possesses a valid certification document pursuant to Education Code 44865 or an emergency credential 
pursuant to Education Code 44300. Students' independent study shall be coordinated, evaluated, and 
documented, as prescribed by law and reflected in the accompanying administrative 
regulation.   (Education Code 51747.5) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 46300, as amended by AB 130, the attendance of students participating in 
independent study for three or more consecutive school days will be included in computing average daily attendance 
(ADA) for apportionment purposes. 
 
However, for the 2021-22 school year, districts are permitted pursuant to Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 
167, to claim apportionment for fewer than three consecutive school days for students who cannot participate in 
classroom-based instruction due to a quarantine order or school closure due to COVID-19. 

 
With the exception of students who, during the 2021-2022 school year, cannot participate in 
classroom-based instruction due to a quarantine or school closure for exposure to or infection with 
COVID-19, the minimum period of time for any independent study option shall be three consecutive 
school days.  (Education Code 51747) 
 
General Independent Study Requirements 
 

Note:  Education Code 51745, as amended by AB 130, requires districts to offer independent study for the 2021-22 
school year only, and thereafter to offer independent study at their discretion. Districts may meet the requirement for the 
2021-22 school year by contracting with a county office of education or by entering into an interdistrict transfer 
agreement with another district pursuant to Education Code 46600.  In addition, the requirement to offer independent 
study for the 2021-22 school year may be waived for districts by the county superintendent of schools in the county in 
which the district is located if the district demonstrates that (1) offering independent study would create an unreasonable 
fiscal burden on the district or county office of education due to low numbers of students participating or other 
extenuating circumstances; and (2) the Board does not have the option to enter into an interdistrict transfer agreement 
with another district or to contract with a county office of education to provide an independent study option. 
 
For single-district counties, the waiver must be granted by the SPI. 

 
For the 2021-22 school year, the district shall offer independent study, as specified in Education Code 
51745, to meet the educational needs of students unless the district has obtained a waiver.   (Education 
Code 51745) 
 
For the 2022-23 school year and thereafter, the Superintendent or designee may continue to offer and 
approve independent study for an individual student upon determining that the student is prepared to 
meet the district's requirements for independent study and is likely to succeed in independent study as 
well as or better than the student would in the regular classroom setting. 
(cf. 5147 - Dropout Prevention) 
(cf. 6011 - Academic Standards) 



Page 3 of 13 

(cf. 6143 - Courses of Study) 
(cf. 6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements) 
(cf. 6146.11 - Alternative Credits Toward Graduation) 
(cf. 6172 - Gifted and Talented Student Program) 
(cf. 6200 - Adult Education) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 46100, the Board is required to fix the length of the school day for each grade level, 
in accordance with law. CDE, in its "Frequently Asked Questions," clarifies that independent study is not an alternative 
curriculum and that students in independent study are required to meet the same number of instructional minutes as their 
peers who are physically at the school site for their instruction. 

 
The minimum instructional minutes for students participating in independent study shall be the same as 
required for their peers at the school who are receiving in-person instruction, except as otherwise 
permitted by law.  (Education Code 46100) 
 

Note:  Education Code 51747 mandates that the Board, in a public hearing, adopt a policy on the maximum length of 
time, by grade level and type of program, which may elapse between the time an independent study assignment is made 
and the date by which the student must complete the assignment. 5 CCR 11700 defines "type of program" as the 
statutory program category for purposes of attendance accounting, such as adult education or continuation high school.  
In addition, 5 CCR 11701 mandates that Board policy reflect an awareness that excessive leniency in the duration of 
independent study assignments can result in a student falling so far behind peers as to increase, rather than decrease, the 
risk of dropping out of school. 
 
The following paragraph sets one week for all grade levels and types of programs as the maximum length of time an 
independent study assignment should be completed, and should be revised to reflect the length of time determined by 
the Board. In order to ensure that apportionment credits are received, the length of time determined by the Board in its 
policy should be reflected in the student's written agreement. See the section "Master Agreement" below. 

 
Because excessive leniency in the duration of independent study assignments may result in a student 
falling behind peers and increase the risk of dropping out of school, independent study assignments 
shall be completed no more than one week after assigned for all grade levels and types of program. 
However, whenWhen necessary based on the specific circumstances of the student's approved program, 
the Superintendent or designee may allow for a longer period of time between the date an assignment 
is made and when it is due, up to . However, in no event shall the due date of an assignment be 
extended beyond the termination date of the agreement. 
 

Note:  Education Code 51747 mandates that the Board, in a public hearing, adopt a policy which specifies the level of 
satisfactory educational progress and the number of missed assignments allowed before an evaluation would be required 
to determine whether it is in a student's best interest to remain in independent study. The following paragraph specifies a 
maximum of three assignments and should be revised to reflect the Board's determination of the number of missed 
assignments that will trigger an evaluation. 
 
The number of missed assignments that will trigger an evaluation must be included in the student's written agreement. 

 
An evaluation shall be conducted to determine whether it is in a student's best interest to remain in 
independent study whenever the student fails to make satisfactory educational progress and/or misses 
three assignments. Satisfactory educational progress shall be determined based on all of the following 
indicators:   (Education Code 51747) 
 
1.         The student's achievement and engagement in the independent study program, as indicated by 

the student's performance on applicable student-level measures of student achievement and 
engagement specified in Education Code 52060 
 

2.         The completion of assignments, assessments, or other indicators that evidence that the student 
is working on assignments 
 



Page 4 of 13 

3.         Learning of required concepts, as determined by the supervising teacher 
 

4.         Progress towards successful completion of the course of study or individual course, as 
determined by the supervising teacher 
 

Note:  Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 130, mandates the Board to adopt policy that includes the provision of 
content aligned to grade level standards that is provided at a level of quality and intellectual challenge substantially 
equivalent to in-person instruction. For high schools, this requirement includes access to all courses offered by the district 
for graduation and approved by the University of California or the California State University as creditable under the A-
G admissions criteria. See BP/AR 6143 - Courses of Study. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that students participating in independent study are 
provided with content aligned to grade level standards at a level of quality and intellectual challenge 
substantially equivalent to in-person instruction.   For high schools, this shall include access to all 
courses offered by the district for graduation and approved by the University of California or the 
California State University as creditable under the A-G admissions criteria.   (Education Code 51747) 
 

Note:  Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 130, mandates the Board to adopt policy that includes plans, by 
grade level, to provide students with specified levels of live interaction and/or synchronous instruction as described 
below and defined in the accompanying administrative regulation. This requirement only applies to students 
participating in an independent study program for 15 school days or more. 
 
According to CDE's "2021-22 AA & IT Independent Study FAQs," synchronous instruction for traditional independent 
study only counts toward meeting the minimum day requirements if students produce a work product that is evaluated 
for time value as an outcome from their participation in the synchronous instruction. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that students participating in independent study for 15 
school days or more receive the following throughout the school year:   (Education Code 51747) 
 
1.         For students in grades transitional kindergarten, kindergarten, and grades 1 to 3, opportunities 

for daily synchronous instruction 
 

2.         For students in grades 4-8, opportunities for both daily live interaction and at least weekly 
synchronous instruction 
 

3.         For students in grades 9-12, opportunities for at least weekly synchronous instruction 
 

Note:  Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 130 and AB 167, mandates the Board to adopt policy that includes 
procedures for tiered reengagement strategies for students who meet the conditions specified in the following paragraph. 
This requirement only applies to students participating in an independent study program for 15 school days or more. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that procedures for tiered reengagement strategies are used 
for all students who areparticipating in an independent study program for 15 school days or more who:  
(Education Code 51747) 
 
1. Are not generating attendance for more than three school days or 60 percent of the instructional 

days in a school week, or who are10 percent of required minimum instructional time over four 
continuous weeks of the district's approved instructional calendar 
 

2. Are found to be not participatory pursuant to Section 51747.5 for more than the greater of three 
schooldays or 60 percent of the scheduled days of synchronous instruction in a school month as 
applicable by grade span 

 
3. Are in violation of their written agreement. This requirement only applies to students 

participating in an 



Page 5 of 13 

 
Tiered reengagement strategies procedures used in district independent study program for 15 school days 
or more. The procedures programs shall include, but are not necessarily limited to, all of the 
following:   (Education Code 51747) 
 
1.         Verification of current contact information for each enrolled student 

 
2.         Notification to parents/guardians of lack of participation within one school day of the absence 

recording of a non-attendance day or lack of participation 
 

3.         A plan for outreach from the school to determine student needs, including connection with 
health and social services as necessary 
 

Note:  Education Code 51747 requires districts to hold a student-parent-educator conference as defined by Education 
Code 51745.5, at specified times, as reflected below and in the accompanying regulation. 

 
4.         A clear standard for requiring a student-parent-educator conference to review a student's written 

agreement and reconsider the independent study program's impact on the student's achievement 
and well-being 
 

Note:  Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 130, mandates the Board to adopt policy that includes a plan to 
expeditiously, and not longer than five instructional days, transition students whose families wish to return to in-person 
instruction from independent study. This requirement only applies to students participating in an independent study 
program for 15 school days or more. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall develop a plan to transition students whose families wish to 
return to in-person instruction from independent study expeditiously, and, in no case later, than five 
instructional days. This requirement only applies to students participating in an independent study 
program for 15 school days or more.   (Education Code 51747) 
 

Note:  Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 130, mandates the Board to adopt policy providing that a current 
written agreement (i.e., the "master agreement") will be maintained for each student who participates in independent 
study and for whom apportionment is claimed. Education Code 51747 provides that no independent study agreement 
can be valid for longer than one school year.  For the 2021-22 school year only, Education Code 51747, as amended by 
AB 167, requires the district to obtain a signed written agreement for an independent study program of any length of 
time no later than 30 days after the first day of instruction in an independent study program or October 15, whichever 
date comes later. 
 
In addition, Education Code 51749.5 mandates the Board to adopt policy providing that a "learning agreement" be 
maintained for each student participating in course-based independent study. 
 
See the section "Master Agreement" below for required content of these agreements. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that a written master agreement exists for each 
participating student as prescribed by law.   (Education Code 51747, 51749.5) 
 

Note:  For the 2021-22 school year only, the district must provide notice with specified components of the independent 
study option available through Education Code 51747. Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 130, requires that the 
written information, in addition to being written in English, be written in the primary language if 15 percent or more of 
the students enrolled in a district that provides instruction in transitional kindergarten, kindergarten, or any of grades 1 
to 12, inclusive, speak a single primary language other than English, as determined from the census data submitted to 
CDE. 

 
The district shall provide written notice to the parents/guardians of all enrolled students of the option to 
enroll their child in in-person instruction or independent study during the 2021-22 school year.   This 
notice shall be posted on the district's web site, and shall include, at a minimum, information about the 



Page 6 of 13 

right to request a student-parent-educator conference before enrollment, student rights regarding 
procedures for enrolling, disenrolling, and reenrolling in independent study, and the instructional time, 
including synchronous and asynchronous learning, that a student will have access to as part of 
independent study.   (Education Code 51747) 
 

Note:  Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 130, requires districts to hold a student-parent-educator conference 
upon the request of a parent/guardian prior to enrollment or disenrollment in independent study.  The term student-
parent-educator conference is defined in Education 51745.5, and as reflected in the accompanying regulation. 

 
Upon the request of the parent/guardian of a student, and before making a decision about enrolling or 
disenrolling in independent study and entering intosigning a written agreement to do so,as described below 
in the section "Master Agreement," the district shall conduct a telephone, videoconference, or in-
person student-parent-educator conference or other meeting during which the student, parent/guardian, 
orand, if requested, their advocate may ask questions about the educational options, including which 
curriculum offerings and nonacademic supports will be available to the student in independent 
study.   (Education Code 51747) 
 
Master Agreement 
 

Note:  Education Code 51747 mandates that, in order to receive apportionments for independent study, the district must 
adopt and implement policy providing for a signed written independent study agreement which contains the components 
listed in the following section. Because apportionments are only provided for independent study of three or more 
consecutive school days pursuant to Education Code 46300, as amended by AB 130, written agreements are required 
only in such instances. 
 
Education Code 46300.7 states that apportionments shall be received for a student in independent study only if the 
district receives written permission from the parent/guardian before the independent study begins, specifying the actual 
dates of participation, methods of study and evaluation, and resources to be made available for the student's independent 
study. Since all these components are included in the written agreement which the parent/guardian must sign before the 
commencement of independent study pursuant to Education Code 51747, the parent/guardian's signature on the 
agreement satisfies the requirement to obtain the parent/guardian's written permission. 
 
For the 2021-22 school year onlyhowever, the district shallmust obtain a signed written agreement for independent 
study, of any length of time, no later than 30 days after the first day of instruction.in independent study or October 15, 
whichever date comes later, pursuant to Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 167.  This requirement is also 
applicable to independent study for a student who is unable to attend classroom-based instruction due to quarantine or 
school closure for COVID-19. 

 
A written agreement shall be developed and implemented for each student participating in independent 
study for three or more consecutive school days or when absences are fixed for a short period of time 
and related to an extracurricular program or competitive sports (i.e. absent every Friday for a season or 
leaving campus during Period 6 every day for 10 days).  (Education Code 46300, 51747; 5 CCR 
11703) 
 
However, for the 2021-22 school year only, the district shall obtain a signed written agreement from 
each student participating in an independent study program for any length of time, no later than 30 
days after the first day of instruction in the independent study program. 
 
The agreement shall include general student data, including the student's name, address, grade level, 
birth date, school of enrollment, and program placement. 
 
The independent study agreement for each participating student also shall include, but are not limited 
to, all of the following:   (Education Code 51747; 5 CCR 11700, 11702) 
 
1.         The frequency, time, place and manner for submitting the student's assignments, reporting the 

student's academic progress, and communicating with a student's parent/guardian regarding the 



Page 7 of 13 

student's academic progress 
 

2.         The objectives and methods of study for the student's work and the methods used to evaluate 
that work 
 

3.         The specific resources that will be made available to the student, including materials and 
personnel, and access to Internet connectivity and devices adequate to participate in the 
educational program and complete assigned work 
 

Note:  As described in the section "General Independent Study Requirements" above, pursuant to Education Code 51747, 
the written agreement must contain statements reflecting Board policy pertaining to (1) the maximum length of time, by 
grade level and type of program, which may elapse between the time an independent study assignment is made and the 
date by which the student must complete the assignment and (2) the number of missed assignments allowed before an 
evaluation would be required to determine whether it is in a student's best interest to remain in independent study. 
Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 130, also requires that the written agreement contain a statement of the Board's 
policy regarding the level of satisfactory educational progress for students participating in independent study. 

 
4.         A statement of the Board's policy detailing the maximum length of time allowed between an 

assignment and its completion, the level of satisfactory educational progress, and the number of 
missed assignments which will trigger an evaluation of whether the student should be allowed 
to continue in independent study 
 

5.         The duration of the independent study agreement, including the beginning and ending dates for 
the student's participation in independent study under the agreement, with a maximum of one 
school year 
 

6.         A statement of the number of course credits or, for the elementary grades, other measures of 
academic accomplishment appropriate to the agreement, to be earned by the student upon 
completion 
 

7.         A statement detailing the academic and other supports that will be provided to address the 
needs of students who are not performing at grade level, or need support in other areas, such as 
English learners, students with disabilities with an individualized education program or a 
Section 504 plan in order to be consistent with their program or plan, students in foster care or 
experiencing homelessness, and students requiring mental health supports. 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 167, a master agreement is not required to include the 
following statement for any student who, during the 2021-22 school year, cannot participate in classroom-based 
instruction due to a quarantine order or school closure due to COVID-19. 

 
8.         A statement that independent study is an optional educational alternative in which no student 

may be required to participate 
 
For the 2021-22 school year, this statement shall not be required for a student's participation in 
independent study if the student is unable to attend in-person instruction because of a 
quarantine or school closure mandated by a local or state health order or guidance due to the 
student's exposure to or infection with COVID-19. 

 
9.         In the case of a suspended or expelled student who is referred or assigned to any school, class, 

or program pursuant to Education Code 48915 or 48917, a statement that instruction may be 
provided through independent study only if the student is offered the alternative of classroom 
instruction 
(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 
 



Page 8 of 13 

10.       Before the commencement of independent study, the agreement shall be signed and dated by 
the student, the student's parent/guardian or caregiver if the student is under age 18 years, the 
certificated employee responsible for the general supervision of independent study, and all 
persons who have direct responsibility for providing assistance to the student. 
 

 However, for the 2021-22 school year, the district shall obtain a signed written agreement for 
independent study from the student, or the student's parent/ guardian if the student is less than 
18 years of age, the certificated employee who has been designated as having responsibility for 
the general supervision of independent study, and all persons who have direct responsibility for 
providing assistance to the pupilstudent, no later than 30 days after the first day of instruction. 
in the independent study program or October 15, whichever date comes later. 

 
Written agreements may be signed using an electronic signature that complies with state and federal 
standards, as determined by the California Department of Education (CDE).   (Education Code 51747) 
 
The parent/guardian's signature on the agreement shall constitute permission for the student to receive 
instruction through independent study. 
 
Course-Based Independent Study 
 

Note:  This section is for districts that provide independent study courses to its students.  Education Code 51749.5-
51749.6, as amended by AB 130, establish a course-based independent study option that may be offered if certain 
requirements are met, as described below. Education Code 51749.5 mandates that boards adopt policies that comply 
with the legal requirements listed in the following section and any applicable regulations adopted by the State Board of 
Education. 
 
The following paragraph may be revised to reflect the grade levels offered by the district. 

 
The district's course-based independent study program for students in grades K-12 shall be subject to 
the following requirements:   (Education Code 51749.5) 
 
1.         A signed learning agreement shall be completed and on file for each participating student, 

pursuant to Education Code 51749.6 
 

2.         Courses shall be taught under the general supervision of certificated employees who hold the 
appropriate subject matter credential and are employed by the district or by another district, 
charter school, or county office of education with which the district has a memorandum of 
understanding to provide the instruction. 
(cf. 4112.2 - Certification) 
 

3.         Courses shall be annually certified by Board resolution to be of the same rigor and educational 
quality and to provide intellectual challenge that is substantially equivalent to in-person, 
classroom-based instruction, and shall be aligned to all relevant local and state content 
standards. For high schools, this shall include access to all courses offered by the district for 
graduation and approved by the University of California or the California State University as 
creditable under the A-G admissions criteria. The certification shall, at a minimum, include the 
duration, number of equivalent daily instructional minutes for each school day that student is 
enrolled, number of equivalent total instructional minutes, and number of course credits for 
each course, consistent with that of equivalent classroom-based courses. The certification shall 
also include plans to provide opportunities throughout the school year, for students in grades 
transitional kindergarten, kindergarten, and grades 1-3 to receive daily synchronous instruction, 
for students in grades 4-8, to receive both daily live interaction and at least weekly synchronous 
instruction, and for students in grades 9-12 to receive at least weekly synchronous instruction. 
 



Page 9 of 13 

4.         Students enrolled in independent study courses shall meet the applicable age requirements 
established pursuant to Education Code 46300.1, 46300.4, 47612, and 47612.1, and the 
applicable residency and enrollment requirements established pursuant to Education Code 
46300.2, 47612, 48204, and 51747.3. 
 

5.         For each student participating in an independent study course, satisfactory educational progress 
shall be determined based on the student's achievement and engagement in the independent 
study program, as indicated by their performance on applicable student-level measures of 
student achievement and student engagement set forth in Education Code 52060, completion of 
assignments, assessments, or other indicators that evidence that the student is working on 
assignments, learning of required concepts, as determined by the supervising teacher, and 
progress toward successful completion of the course of study or individual course, as 
determined by the supervising teacher. 
 
If satisfactory educational progress in an independent study class is not being made, the teacher 
shall notify the student and, if the student is under age 18 years, the student's parent/guardian. 
The teacher shall conduct an evaluation to determine whether it is in the student's best interest 
to remain in the course or whether the student should be referred to an alternative program, 
which may include, but is not limited to, a regular school program. A written record of the 
evaluation findings shall be a mandatory interim student record maintained for three years from 
the date of the evaluation. If the student transfers to another California public school, the record 
shall be forwarded to that school. 
 
Procedures for tiered reengagement strategies shall be used for all students who are not making 
satisfactory educational progress in one or more courses or who are in violation of the written 
learning agreement, as described in the section "Learning Agreement for Course-Based 
Independent Study" below. These procedures shall include, but are not necessarily limited to, 
the verification of current contact information for each enrolled student, notification to 
parents/guardians of lack of participation within one school day of the absence or lack of 
participation, a plan for outreach from the school to determine student needs, including 
connection with health and social services as necessary, and a clear standard for requiring a 
student-parent-educator conference to review a student's written agreement and reconsider the 
independent study program's impact on the student's achievement and well-being. 
(cf. 5125 - Student Records) 
 

6.         Examinations shall be administered by a proctor. 
 

7.         Statewide testing results shall be reported and assigned to the school at which the student is 
enrolled and shall be included in the aggregate results of the district. Test results also shall be 
disaggregated for purposes of comparisons with the test results of students enrolled in 
classroom-based courses. 
(cf. 6162.51 - State Academic Achievement Tests) 
 

8.         A student shall not be required to enroll in courses included in the course-based independent 
study program. 
 

9.         The student-teacher ratio in the courses in this program shall meet the requirements of 
Education Code 51745.6. 
 

10.       For each student, the combined equivalent daily instructional minutes for courses in this 
program and all other courses shall meet applicable minimum instructional day requirements, 
and the student shall be offered the minimum annual total equivalent instructional minutes 
pursuant to Education Code 46200-46208. 



Page 10 of 13 

(cf. 6111 - School Calendar) 
(cf. 6112 - School Day) 
 

11.       Courses required for high school graduation or for admission to the University of California or 
California State University shall not be offered exclusively through independent study. 
 

12.       A student participating in this program shall not be assessed a fee that is prohibited by 
Education Code 49011. 
(cf. 3260 - Fees and Charges) 
 

13.       A student shall not be prohibited from participating in independent study solely on the basis 
that the student does not have the materials, equipment, or access to Internet connectivity 
necessary to participate in the course. 
 

14.       A student with disabilities, as defined in Education Code 56026, shall not participate in course-
based independent study, unless the student's individualized education program specifically 
provides for that participation. 
 

15.       A temporarily disabled student shall not receive individual instruction pursuant to Education 
Code 48206.3 through course-based independent study. 
 

16.       The district shall maintain a plan to transition any student whose family wishes to return to in-
person instruction from course-based independent study expeditiously, and, in no case, later 
than five instructional days. 
 

Learning Agreement for Course-Based Independent Study 
 

Note:  Education Code 51749.6, as amended by AB 130, requires that, before enrolling a student in course-based 
independent study, the district provide the student and, if the student is less than 18 years of age, the student's 
parent/guardian, with a written learning agreement that includes specified components. 

 
Before enrolling a student in a course within this program, the Superintendent or designee shall provide 
the student and, if the student is under age 18 years, the student's parent/guardian with a written 
learning agreement that includes all of the following:   (Education Code 51749.6) 
 
1.         A summary of the district's policies and procedures related to course-based independent study 

pursuant to Education Code 51749.5 
 

2.         The duration of the enrolled course(s) and the number of course credits for each enrolled 
course, consistent with the Board certifications made pursuant to item #2 above 
3.        3 of the Course-Based Independent Study section above 

 
3. The duration of the learning agreement, which shall not exceed a school year or span multiple 

school years 
 

4.         The learning objectives and expectations for each course, including, but not limited to, a 
description of how satisfactory educational progress is measured and when a student evaluation 
is required to determine whether the student should remain in the course or be referred to an 
alternative program, which may include, but is not limited to, a regular school program 
 

5.         The specific resources that will be made available to the student, including materials and 
personnel, and access to Internet connectivity and devices adequate to participate  
in the educational program and complete assigned work 
 



Page 11 of 13 

6.         A statement detailing the academic and other supports that will be provided to address the 
needs of students who are not performing at grade level, or need support in other areas, such as 
English learners, students with disabilities with an individualized education program or a 
Section 504 plan in order to be consistent with their program or plan, students in foster care or 
experiencing homelessness, and students requiring mental health supports. 
 

7.         A statement that enrollment is an optional educational alternative in which no student may be 
required to participate.   In the case of a student who is suspended or expelled, or who is 
referred or assigned to any school, class, or program pursuant to Education Code 48915 or 
48917, the agreement also shall include the statement that instruction may be provided to the 
student through course-based independent study only if the student is offered the alternative of 
classroom instruction. 
 

8.         The manner, time, frequency, and place for submitting a student's assignments, for reporting the 
student's academic progress, and for communicating with a student's parent/guardian regarding 
a student's academic progress. 
 

9.         The objectives and methods of study for the student's work, and the methods used to  
evaluate that work. 
 

10.       A statement of the adopted policies regarding the maximum length of time allowed between the 
assignment and the completion of a student's assigned work, the level of satisfactory 
educational progress, and the number of missed assignments allowed before an evaluation of 
whether the student should be allowed to continue in course-based independent study. 
 

11.       A statement of the number of course credits or, for the elementary grades, other measures of 
academic accomplishment appropriate to the learning agreement, to be earned by the student 
upon completion. 
 

12. For 2022-23 school year and thereafter, before the commencement of an independent study 
course, the learning agreement shall be signed and dated by the student, and by the student's 
parent/guardian or caregiver, if the student is less than 18 years of age, the certificated 
employee who has been designated as having responsibility for the general supervision of the 
independent study course, and all persons who have direct responsibility for providing 
assistance to the student.   For purposes of this paragraph "caregiver" means a person who has 
met the requirements of Family Code 6550-6552. 
 
For the 2021-22 school year only, the district shall obtain a signed written agreement for 
independent study from the student, or the student's parent/guardian if the student is less than 
18 years of age, the certificated employee who has been designated as having responsibility for 
the general supervision of the independent study course, and all persons who have direct 
responsibility for providing assistance to the pupil no later than 30 days after the first day of 
instruction. 
 
Written agreements may be signed using an electronic signature that complies with state and 
federal standards, as determined by the CDE.   (Education Code 51749.6) 
 

A signed learning agreement from a parent/guardian of a student who is less than 18 years of age shall 
constitute the parent/guardian's signature shall constitute permission for the student to receive instruction 
through course-based independent study.   (Education Code 51749.6) 
 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall retain a physical or electronic copy of the signed learning 



Page 12 of 13 

agreement for at least three years and as appropriate for auditing purposes.   (Education Code 51749.6) 
 
Upon the request of a student's parent/guardian, and before signing a written agreement as described 
above, the district shall conduct a telephone, videoconference, or in-person student-parent-educator 
conference, or other meeting during which the student, parent/guardian, or their advocate may ask 
questions about the educational options, including which curriculum offerings and nonacademic 
supports will be available to the student in independent study.  (Education Code 51749.6) 
 
Student-Parent-Educator Conferences 
 

Note:  Education Code 51747 and 51749.5, as amended by AB 130, require districts to hold student-parent-educator 
conferences as defined by Education Code 51745.5, at specified times. See the accompanying regulation for the 
definition of student-parent-educator conference. 

 
A student-parent-educator conference shall be held as appropriate including, but not limited to, as a 
reengagement strategy and/or, if requested by a parent/guardian, prior to enrollment or disenrollment 
from independent study.   (Education Code 51745.5, 51747, 51749.5) 
 
Records 
 

Note:  Education Code 51745.6, 51747, 51747.5, and 51749.5, as amended by AB 130, require, commencing in the 
2021-22 fiscal year, the State Controller to incorporate verifications of compliance with specified components of the 
laws into the Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education Agencies and State Compliance Reporting to the extent 
that these verifications are not yet included in the audit guide, with loss of apportionment for independent study for 
districts found to be noncompliant. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that records are maintained for audit purposes.  
 
These records shall include, but not be limited to:   (Education Code 51748; 5 CCR 11703) 
 
1.         A copy of the Board policy, administrative regulation, and other procedures related to 

independent study 
 

2.         A listing of the students, by grade level, program, and school, who have participated in 
independent study, along with the units of the curriculum attempted and completed by students 
in grades K-8 and the course credits attempted by and awarded to students in grades 9-12 and 
adult education 
 

3.         A file of all agreements, with representative samples of each student's work products bearing 
the supervising teacher's notations indicating that the teacher has personally evaluated the work 
or personally reviewed the evaluations made by another certificated teacher 
 

4.         As appropriate to the program in which the students are participating, a daily or hourly 
attendance register that is separate from classroom attendance records, maintained on a current 
basis as time values of student work products judged by a certificated teacher, and reviewed by 
the supervising teacher if they are two different persons 
 

5.         Appropriate documentation of compliance with the teacher-student ratios required by Education 
Code 51745.6 and 51749.5   (Education Code 51745.6 and 51749.5) 
 

6.         Appropriate documentation of compliance with the requirements pursuant to Education Code 
51747.5 to ensure the coordination, evaluation, and supervision of the independent study of 
each student by a district employee who possesses a valid certification document pursuant to 
Education Code 44865 or an emergency credential pursuant to Education Code 



Page 13 of 13 

44300   (Education Code 51747.5) 
 

Note:  Education Code 51747.5, as amended by AB 130, requires districts to document each student's participation in 
live interaction and synchronous instruction pursuant to Education Code 51747 on each school day, as applicable, in 
whole or in part, for which the student is provided independent study. A student who does not participate on a school 
day must be documented as nonparticipatory for that school day. In addition, Education Code 51747.5 requires districts 
to maintain written or computer-based evidence of student engagement that includes, but is not limited to, a grade book 
or summary document that, for each class, lists all assignments, assessments, and associated grades.  Commencing in 
the 2021-22 fiscal year, the Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education Agencies and State Compliance 
Reporting will incorporate compliance reviews of these requirements, and a finding of noncompliance will result in loss 
of apportionment in proportion to the impact on ADA from the noncompliance. 

 
The district shall document each student's participation in live interaction and synchronous instruction 
pursuant to Education Code 51747 on each school day, as applicable, in whole or in part, for which 
live interaction or synchronous instruction is provided as part of the independent study program. A 
student who does not participate in scheduled live interaction or synchronous instruction shall be 
documented as nonparticipatory for that school day.  (Education Code 51747.5) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall also shall maintain a written or computer-based record such as a 
grade book or summary document of student engagement, for each class, of all grades, assignments, 
and assessments for each student for independent study assignments.   (Education Code 51747.5) 
(cf. 3580 - District Records) 
 

Note:  Education Code 51747 authorizes specified records to be maintained in an electronic file, as provided in the 
following paragraph. Pursuant to Education Code 51747, an electronic file includes a computer or electronically stored 
image of an original document, including, but not limited to, a PDF, JPEG, or other digital file type, that may be sent via 
fax machine, email, or other electronic means. 

 
The signed, dated agreement, any supplemental agreement, assignment records, work samples, and 
attendance records may be maintained on file electronically.   (Education Code 51747) 
 
Program Evaluation 
 

Note:  The following optional section may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall annually report to the Board the number of district students 
participating in independent study, the average daily attendance generated for apportionment purposes, 
student performance as measured by standard indicators and in comparison to students in classroom-
based instruction, and the number and proportion of independent study students who graduate or 
successfully complete independent study.   Based on the program evaluation, the Board and 
Superintendent shall determine areas for program improvement as needed. 
(cf. 0500 - Accountability) 
(cf. 5121 - Grades/Evaluation of Student Achievement) 
(cf. 6162.5 - Student Assessment) 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007  
revised: August 9, 2011 
revised: April 14, 2015 
revised: August 10, 2021 
revised: February 08, 2022 





Page 1 of 6 
**Revisions** 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Instruction 
Regulation 6158: Independent Study 

 

Original Adopted Date: 04/10/2007 | Last Revised Date: 08/10/2021 | Last Reviewed Date: 08/10/2021  
 
Definitions 
 

Note:  Education Code 51745.5, as added by AB 130 (Ch. 44, Statutes of 2021), defines the terms "live interaction," 
"student-parent-educator conference," and "synchronous instruction" as provided below. 

 
Live interaction means interaction between the student and classified or certificated staff, and may 
include peers, provided for the purpose of maintaining school connectedness, including, but not limited 
to, wellness checks, progress monitoring, provision of services, and instruction. This interaction may 
take place in person, or in the form of Internet or telephonic communication.   (Education Code 
51745.5) 
 
Student-parent-educator conference means a meeting involving, at a minimum, all parties who signed 
the student's written independent study agreement pursuant to Education Code 51747 or the written 
learning agreement pursuant to Education Code 51749.6.   (Education Code 51745.5) 
 
Synchronous instruction means classroom-style instruction or designated small group or one-on-one 
instruction delivered in person, or in the form of Internet or telephonic communications, and involving 
live two-way communication between the teacher and student. Synchronous instruction shall be 
provided by the teacher of record for that student pursuant to Education Code 51747.5.  or the 
certificated employee providing instruction for course-based independent study.  (Education Code 
51745.5) 
 
Educational Opportunities 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 51745, as amended by AB 130, the district is required to offer independent study to 
meet the educational needs of students for the 2021-22 school year unless the district obtains a waiver from such 
requirement. 

 
For the 2021-22 school year, the district shall offer independent study to meet the educational needs of 
students as specified in Education Code 51745 unless the district has obtained a waiver.   (Education 
Code 51745) 
 

Note:  The following section is optional. Education Code 51745 lists educational opportunities that may be provided 
through independent study. The district may revise or expand items #1-6 below to reflect district practice. 

 
Educational opportunities offered through independent study may include, but are not limited 
to:   (Education Code 51745) 
 
1.         Special assignments extending the content of regular courses of instruction 

(cf. 6143 - Courses of Study) 
 

2.         Individualized study in a particular area of interest or in a subject not currently available in the 
regular school curriculum 
 

3.         Individualized alternative education designed to teach the knowledge and skills of the core 
curriculum, but not provided as an alternative curriculum 
 



Page 2 of 6 

4.         Continuing and special study during travel 
(cf. 5112.3 - Student Leave of Absence) 
 

5.         Volunteer community service activities and leadership opportunities that support and strengthen 
student achievement 
 

Note:  Education Code 51745, as amended by AB 167, permits districts to provide independent study to students who 
cannot participate in classroom-based instruction due to a COVID-19 quarantine. See the accompanying board policy. 

 
6.         Individualized study for a student whose health, as determined by the student's parent/guardian, 

would be put at risk by in-person instruction or for a student who is unable to attend in-person 
instruction due to a quarantine due to exposure to, or infection with, COVID-19, pursuant to 
local or state public health guidance 
(cf. 0420.4 - Charter School Authorization) 
(cf. 6142.4 - Service Learning/Community Service Classes) 
(cf. 6181 - Alternative Schools/Programs of Choice) 

 
In addition, when requested by a parent/guardian due to an emergency or illness, independent study 
may be used on a short-term basis to ensure that the student is able to maintain academic progress in 
the student's regular classes. 
(cf. 5113 - Absences and Excuses) 
 

Note:  The following paragraph is for use by districts maintaining high schools. 
 
No course required for high school graduation shall be offered exclusively through independent 
study.   (Education Code 51745) 
(cf. 6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements) 
 
Equivalency 
 
The district's independent study option shall be substantially equivalent in quality and quantity to 
classroom instruction to enable participating students to complete the district's adopted course of study 
within the customary timeframe. Students in independent study shall have access to the same services 
and resources that are available to other students in the school and shall have equal rights and 
privileges.   (5 CCR 11700, 11701.5) 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
 
Students participating in independent study shall have access to Internet connectivity and devices 
adequate to participate in the educational program and complete assigned work.   (Education Code 
51747) 
 
The district shall not provide independent study students and their parents/guardians with funds or 
items of value that are not provided for other students and their parents/guardians.   Providing access to 
Internet connectivity and local educational agency-owned devices adequate to participate in an 
independent study program and complete assigned work consistent with Education Code 51747, or to 
participate in an independent study course, as authorized by Education Code 51749.5, shall not be 
considered funds or other things of value.   (Education Code 46300.6, 51747.3) 
 
Eligibility for Independent Study 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 51748, independent study students must be enrolled in school as a condition of 
receiving state apportionments. 

 
To participate in independent study, a student shall be enrolled in a district school.  (Education Code 51748) 



Page 3 of 6 

 
Note:  The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 

 
For the 2022-23 school year and thereafter, the Superintendent or designee may approve the 
participation of a student who demonstrates the motivation, commitment, organizational skills, and 
academic skills necessary to work independently provided that experienced certificated staff are 
available to effectively supervise students in independent study.   The Superintendent or designee may 
also approve the participation of a student whose health would be put at risk by in-person 
instruction.   A student whose academic performance is not at grade level may participate in 
independent study only if the program is able to provide appropriate support, such as supplemental 
instruction, tutoring, counseling, ongoing diagnostic assessments, and/or differentiated materials, to 
enable the student to be successful.   For an elementary student, the Superintendent or designee may 
consider the parent/guardian's level of commitment to assist the student. 
 

Note:  The following paragraph limits eligibility for independent study to those students for whom state apportionments 
can be claimed. Education Code 46300.2 provides that districts will receive state funding for independent study for 
students who are residents of the county or an adjacent county. Pursuant to Education Code 51747.3, students whose 
residency status is based on parent/guardian employment within district boundaries (Education Code 48204(b)) are not 
eligible for funds apportioned for average daily attendance (ADA). 

 
A student participating in independent study must be a resident of the county or an adjacent 
county.   Full-time independent study shall not be available to students whose district residency status 
is based on their parent/guardian's employment within district boundaries pursuant to Education Code 
48204.   (Education Code 46300.2, 51747.3) 
(cf. 5111.1 - District Residency) 
 
A student with disabilities, as defined in Education Code 56026, shall not participate in independent 
study unless the student's individualized education program specifically provides for such 
participation.   (Education Code 51745) 
(cf. 6159 - Individualized Education Program) 
 

Note:  Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 167, relaxes certain independent study requirements for the 2021-22 
school year for students who cannot participate in classroom-based instruction as a result of a quarantine order or school 
closure due to COVID-19, including the limitation on providing a temporarily disabled student individual instruction 
pursuant to Education Code 48206.3 by means of independent study. 

 
With the exception of students who, during the 2021-2022 school year, cannot participate in 
classroom-based instruction due to a COVID-19 quarantine or school closure, a temporarily disabled 
student shall not receive individual instruction pursuant to Education Code 48206.3 by means of 
independent study.   (Education Code 51745) 
51747) 
(cf. 6183 - Home and Hospital Instruction) 
 

Note:  Education Code 46300.1 provides that the district may not receive apportionments pursuant to Education Code 
42238 for independent study for students age 21 or older, or for students 19 or older who have not been continuously 
enrolled in grades K-12 since their 18th birthday.  However, pursuant to Education Code 46300.4, these students may be 
eligible for independent study through the adult education program for courses required for high school graduation. See 
BP/AR 6200 - Adult Education. 

 
Students age 21 or older, and students age 19 or older who have not been continuously enrolled in 
school since their 18th birthday, may participate in independent study only through the adult education 
program for the purpose of enrolling in courses required for a high school diploma by Education Code 
51225.3 or the Governing Board.   (Education Code 46300.1, 46300.4) 
(cf. 6200 - Adult Education) 
 



Page 4 of 6 

Note:  The following paragraph limits enrollment in independent study to those students for whom state apportionments 
can be claimed. Pursuant to Education Code 51745, no more than 10 percent of the students enrolled in a continuation 
high school or opportunity school or program are eligible for apportionment credit for independent study. A pregnant 
student or a parenting student who is the primary caregiver for the student's child(ren) is not included in this cap. 

 
No more than 10 percent of the students enrolled in a continuation high school or opportunity school or 
program, not including pregnant students and parenting students who are primary caregivers for one or 
more of their children, shall be enrolled in independent study.   (Education Code 51745) 
(cf. 5146 - Married/Pregnant/Parenting Students) 
(cf. 6184 - Continuation Education) 
 
Monitoring Student Progress 
 

Note:  The following optional section may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
The independent study administrator and/or supervising teacher shall promptly and directly address 
any failure by the student to meet the terms of the student's written agreement. The following 
supportive strategies may be used: 
 
1.         A letter to the student and/or parent/guardian 

 
2.         A meeting between the student and the teacher and/or counselor 

 
3.         A meeting between the student and the independent study administrator, including the 

parent/guardian if appropriate 
 

4.         An increase in the amount of time the student works under direct supervision 
 

When the student has failed to make satisfactory educational progress or missed the number of 
assignments specified in the written agreement as requiring an evaluation, the Superintendent or 
designee shall conduct an evaluation to determine whether or not independent study is appropriate for 
the student. This evaluation may result in termination of the independent study agreement and the 
student's return to the regular classroom program or other alternative program. 
 
A written record of the findings of any such evaluation shall be treated as a mandatory interim student 
record which shall be maintained for three years from the date of the evaluation.   (Education Code 
51747) 
 
Responsibilities of Independent Study Administrator 
 

Note:  The following optional section may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
The responsibilities of the independent study administrator include, but are not limited to: 
 
1.         Recommending certificated staff to be assigned as independent study teachers at the required 

teacher-student ratios pursuant to Education Code 51745.6 and supervising staff assigned to 
independent study functions who are not regularly supervised by another administrator 
 

2.         Approving or denying the participation of students requesting independent study 
 

3.         Facilitating the completion of written independent study agreements 
 

4.         Ensuring a smooth transition for students into and out of the independent study mode of instruction 
 



Page 5 of 6 

5.         Approving all credits earned through independent study 
 

6.         Completing or coordinating the preparation of all records and reports required by law, Board 
policy, or administrative regulation 
 

Assignment and Responsibilities of Independent Study Teachers 
 
Each student's independent study shall be coordinated, evaluated, and carried out under the general 
supervision of a district employee who possesses a valid certification document pursuant to Education 
Code 44865 or emergency credential pursuant to Education Code 44300, registered as required by law, 
and who consents to the assignment.   (Education Code 44865, 51747.5; 5 CCR 11700) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 51745.6, the equivalency of teacher-student ratios as described below is a necessary 
condition for the district to receive apportionments for independent study.  The district may exceed these ratios, but 
those additional units of independent study ADA would not be funded. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 51745.6, as amended by AB 130, the Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education 
Agencies and State Compliance Reporting must incorporate verification of applicable teacher-student ratios 
commencing in the 2021-22 fiscal year. 

 
The ratio of student average daily attendance for independent study students age 18 years or younger to 
full-time equivalent certificated employees responsible for independent study shall not exceed the 
equivalent ratio for all other education programs in the district, unless a new higher or lower ratio for 
all other educational programs offered is negotiated in a collective bargaining agreement or the district 
enters into a memorandum of understanding that indicates an existing collective bargaining agreement 
contains an alternative ratio.   (Education Code 51745.6) 
 

Note:  The remainder of this section is optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
The responsibilities of the supervising teacher shall include, but are not limited to: 
 
1.         Completing designated portions of the written independent study agreement and signing the 

agreement 
 

2.         Supervising and approving coursework and assignments 
 

3.         Maintaining records of student assignments showing the date the assignment is given and the 
date the assignment is due 
 

4.         Maintaining a daily or hourly attendance register in accordance with item #4 in the section on 
"Records for Audit Purpose" in the accompanying Board policy 
 

5.         Providing direct instruction and counsel as necessary for individual student success 
 

6.         Regularly meeting with the student to discuss the student's progress 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 51747.5, as amended by AB 167, the district may only claim apportionment credit 
for independent study based on the time value of student work products as personally judged in each instance by a 
certificated teacher employed by the district. Education Code 51747.5 specifies that the teacher is not required to sign 
and date the work products. 

 
7.         Determining the time value of assigned work or work products completed and submitted by the 

student 
 



Page 6 of 6 

8.         Assessing student work and assigning grades or other approved measures of achievement 
 

Note:  Education Code 51747.5, as amended by AB 130 and AB 167, requires districts to document each student's 
participation in live interaction and synchronous instruction pursuant to Education Code 51747 on each school day, as 
applicable, in whole or in part, for which live interaction or synchronous instruction is provided as part of the 
independent study program. A student who does not participate in scheduled live interaction or synchronous instruction 
on a school day shall be documented as nonparticipatory for that school day, for purposes of student participation 
reporting and tiered reengagement pursuant to Education Code 51747. 

 
9.         Documenting each student's participation in live interaction and/or synchronous instruction 

pursuant to Education Code 51747 on each school day, as applicable, in whole or in part, for 
which live interaction or synchronous instruction is provided as part of the independent study is 
providedprogram 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that independent study teachers have access to 
professional development and support comparable to classroom-based teachers. 
(cf. 4131 - Staff Development) 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Regulation approved: April 10, 2007 
revised: August 9, 2011 
revised: April 14, 2015 
revised: June 14, 2016 
revised: September 13, 2016 
revised: May 11, 2021 
revised: August 10, 2021 
revised: February 08, 2022 



Page 1 of 6 
**Revisions** 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Instruction 
Policy 6170.1: Transitional Kindergarten 

 

Original Adopted Date: 06/17/2015 | Last Revised Date: 01/12/2021 | Last Reviewed Date: 01/12/2021  
 

Note:  The following policy is for use by districts that maintain kindergarten and may be revised to reflect district 
practice.  Education Code 48000 provides that children are eligible for kindergarten enrollment if they have their fifth 
birthday on or before September 1 in that school year; see AR 5111 - Admission.  Pursuant to Education Code 48000, as 
amended by AB 130 (Ch. 44, Statutes of 2021) and AB 167 (Ch. 252, Statutes of 2021), for the 2021-22 school year, 
districts are required to admit any child whose fifth birthday is between September 2 and December 2 to a transitional 
kindergarten (TK) program as a condition of apportionment and revises the timespans for mandatory admittance 
requirements to be phased in from the 2022-23 school year to the 2025-26 school year as described below. 
 
In its "Transitional Kindergarten FAQs," the California Department of Education (CDE) provides that the laws 
governing TK programs apply equally to all districts including basic aid districts.  Districts with questions about the 
application of the TK mandatory admittance requirements to basic aid districts should consult legal counsel. 
 
Education Code 48000 defines TK as the first year of a two-year kindergarten program that uses a modified 
kindergarten curriculum that is age and developmentally appropriate.  Many of the requirements applicable to 
kindergarten (e.g., class size, minimum school day, facilities) are also applicable to TK. The district will receive funding 
based on average daily attendance (ADA) for students in a TK program that meets the requirements specified in 
Education Code 48000. 
 
Education Code 8281.5, as added by AB 130, establishes the California Prekindergarten Planning and Implementation 
Grant Program as an early learning initiative with the goal of expanding access to classroom-based prekindergarten 
programs.  The program allocates funding to all districts that operate kindergarten programs through minimum base 
grants, enrollment grants based on a district's kindergarten enrollment, and supplemental grants based on a district's 
percentage of unduplicated students.  Grant funds may be used for costs associated with creating or expanding preschool 
programs through the California State Preschool Program (CSPP) or TK programs, or to establish or strengthen 
partnerships with other providers of prekindergarten education within the district, including Head Start programs, to 
ensure that high-quality options for prekindergarten education are available for four-year-old children.  Allowable costs 
include, but are not necessarily limited to, planning costs, hiring and recruitment costs, staff training and professional 
development, classroom materials, and supplies. 
 
Education Code 17375, as amended by AB 130 and AB 167, establishes the California Preschool, Transitional 
Kindergarten, and Full-Day Kindergarten Facilities Grant Program to provide one-time grants to school districts to 
construct new school facilities or retrofit existing school facilities including for the purpose of providing TK classrooms. 
 
For guidance on implementing TK programs, see the Transitional Kindergarten Implementation Guide:  A Resource for 
California Public School District Administrators and Teachers, published by CDE. 

 
The Governing Board desires to offer a high-quality transitional kindergarten (TK) program for 
eligible children who do not yet meet the minimum age criterion for kindergarten.  The TK program 
shall assist students in developing the academic, social, and emotional skills needed to succeed in 
kindergarten and beyond. 
 
The district's TK program shall be the first year of a two-year kindergarten program.   (Education Code 
48000) 
 
The Board encourages ongoing collaboration among district preschool staff, other preschool providers, 
elementary teachers, administrators, and parents/guardians in the development, implementation, and 
evaluation of the district's TK program. 
(cf. 1220 - Citizen Advisory Committees) 
(cf. 6020 - Parent Involvement) 



Page 2 of 6 

 
Eligibility 
 

Note:  Education Code 48000, as amended by AB 130 and AB 167, revises the timespans for mandatory admittance 
requirements to be phased in from the 2022-23 school year to the 2025-26 school year. 

 
The district's TK program shall admit children as follows:  (Education Code 48000): 
 
1. For the 2021-22 school year, children whose fifth birthday is frombetween September 2 through 

December 2.  (Education Code 48000) 
 

2. For the 2022-23 school year, children whose fifth birthday is between September 2 and 
February 2 
 

3. For the 2023-24 school year, children whose fifth birthday is between September 2 and April 2 
 
4. For the 2024-25 school year, children whose fifth birthday is between September 2 and June 2 
 
5. For the 2025-26 school year, and in each school year thereafter, children who turn four by 

September 1 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48000, as amended by AB 130 and AB 167, a child's eligibility for TK enrollment 
may not impact family eligibility for a preschool or childcare program. 

 
A child's eligibility for TK enrollment shall not impact family eligibility for a preschool or childcare 
program.  (Education Code 48000). 
 

Note:  CDE's "Transitional Kindergarten FAQs" clarify that children are required to have documentation of required 
immunizations or a valid exemption prior to admission to TK.  For information about required immunizations and 
exemptions, see BP/AR 5141.31 - Immunizations. 

 
Parents/guardians of eligible children shall be notified of the availability of the TK program and of the 
age, residency, immunization, and any other enrollment requirements.  Enrollment in the TK program 
shall be voluntary. 
(cf. 5111 - Admission) 
(cf. 5111.1 - District Residency) 
(cf. 5141.22 - Infectious Diseases) 
(cf. 5141.3 - Health Examinations) 
(cf. 5141.31 - Immunizations) 
(cf. 5141.32 - Health Screening for School Entry) 
 

Note:  The following paragraph is optional.  If the district chooses to allow kindergarten-eligible children to enroll in 
the TK program, CDE recommends that the district establish criteria to determine selection requirements.  The 
parent/guardian of a kindergarten-eligible child who is enrolled in TK must, at the end of the year, sign a Kindergarten 
Continuance Form verifying agreement with the child enrolling in kindergarten the following year; see section 
"Continuation in Kindergarten" below. 

 
On a case-by-case basis, a child whose fifth birthday is on or before September 1 may be admitted into 
the district's TK program upon request of a child's parents/guardians, if the Superintendent or designee 
determines that it is in the child's best interest. 
 

Note:  The following paragraph is optional.  Pursuant to Education Code 48000, as amended by AB 130 and AB 167, 
the district may, at its discretion, determine whether to allow admittance of children whose fifth birthday is after the date 



Page 3 of 6 

specified for admittance for the applicable year as described above.  Such students may be admitted at any time during 
the school year, including at the beginning of the year.  Education Code 48000 provides that districts will not receive 
ADA apportionment for a child whose birthday is after the date specified for the applicable year until the child's fifth 
birthday. 

 
At any time during the school year, the district may admit into the TK program a child whose fifth 
birthday is after December 2 of that same school yearthe date specified for admittance for the applicable 
year as described above, provided that the Superintendent or designee recommends that enrollment in a 
TK program is in the child's best interest and the child's parents/guardians approve.  Prior to such 
enrollment, the child's parents/guardians shall be provided information regarding the advantages and 
disadvantages and any other explanatory information about the effect of early admittance.   (Education 
Code 48000) 
 
Curriculum and Instruction 
 
The district's TK program shall be based on a modified kindergarten curriculum that is age and 
developmentally appropriate.   (Education Code 48000) 
(cf. 6141 - Curriculum Development and Evaluation) 
(cf. 6161.1 - Selection and Evaluation of Instructional Materials) 
 

Note:  Education Code 48000 states the Legislature's intent that the TK curriculum be aligned to the California 
Preschool Learning Foundations developed by CDE.  These standards address essential knowledge and skills in the 
subject areas listed below.  The standards and companion preschool curriculum frameworks are available on CDE's web 
site. 

 
The program shall be aligned with the preschool learning foundations and preschool curriculum 
frameworks developed by the California Department of Education (CDE).  It shall be designed to 
facilitate students' development in essential knowledge and skills related to language and literacy, 
mathematics, physical development, health, visual and performing arts, science, history-social science, 
English language development, and social-emotional development. 
(cf. 5148.3 - Preschool/Early Childhood Education) 
(cf. 6011 - Academic Standards) 
(cf. 6174 - Education for English Learners) 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice.  Education Code 37202 permits 
districts to maintain TK and kindergarten classes for different lengths of time during the school day, either at the same 
or a different school site.  Districts offering TK classes for different lengths of time are still required to meet the 
minimum and maximum length of school day provided in law.  Pursuant to Education Code 46111, as amended by AB 
130, 46115, and 46117, at the kindergarten and TK level the minimum school day is three hours (180 minutes), 
including recess but excluding noon intermission, and the maximum school day is four hours (240 minutes), excluding 
recess, except for students in expanded learning opportunity programs intended to supplement instructional time 
provided by a district pursuant to Education Code 46120 or if the district has adopted an extended-day kindergarten 
pursuant to Education Code 8973.  However, pursuant to Education Code 46119, if the district has fewer than 40 
kindergarten students, the Governing Board may apply to the Superintendent of Public Instruction to maintain two 
kindergarten classes of 150 minutes each, including recesses, taught on the same day by the same teacher. Also see AR 
6112 - School Day. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 48003, districts are required to provide an annual report to CDE regarding the type of 
kindergarten program offered by the district, including part day, full day, or both. The California Basic Educational Data 
System (CBEDS) School Information Form, located on CDE's web site, requires a report on the type of TK program 
offered. 

 
The Board shall establish the length of the school day in the district's TK program, which shall be at 
least three hours but no more than four hours long. except for TK students enrolled in expanded 
learning opportunity programs provided by the district pursuant to Education Code 46120.  If the 



Page 4 of 6 

district has adopted an extended-day kindergarten, the length of the school day for the TK program 
may be different than the length of the school day for the kindergarten program either at the same or 
different school sites.  The Superintendent or designee shall annually report to CDE as to whether the 
district's TK programs are offered full day, part day, or both.   (Education Code 8973, 37202, 46111, 
46115, 46117, 48003) 
(cf. 5148.2 - Before/After School Programs) 
(cf. 6111 - School Calendar) 
(cf. 6112 - School Day) 
 

Note:  Education Code 8281.5, as added by AB 130 and amended by AB 167, requires districts receiving grants through 
the California Prekindergarten Planning and Implementation Grant Program to develop a plan for consideration by the 
Board at a public meeting on or before June 30, 2022 for how all children in the attendance area of the district will have 
access to full-day learning programs the year before kindergarten that meet the needs of parents/guardians, including 
through partnerships with the district's expanded learning offerings, the After School Education and Safety Program, the 
CSPP, Head Start programs, and other community-based early learning and care programs. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall develop a plan for how all children in the attendance area of the 
district will have access to full-day learning programs the year before kindergarten that meet the needs 
of parents/guardians, including through partnerships with the district's expanded learning offerings, the 
After School Education and Safety Program, the California State Preschool Program (CSPP), Head 
Start programs, and other community-based early learning and care programs.  The Superintendent or 
designee shall present such plan for consideration by the Board at a public meeting on or before June 
30, 2022.  (Education Code 8281.5) 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice.  According to CDE's "Transitional 
Kindergarten FAQs," it is the intent of the law to provide separate and unique experiences for TK and kindergarten 
students.  However, districts have flexibility to determine how best to meet the curricular needs of each child and 
whether TK and kindergarten students may be enrolled in the same classrooms. 

 
TK students may be placed in the same classrooms as kindergarten students when necessary, provided 
that the instructional program is differentiated to meet student needs. 
 
TK students may be commingled in the same classroom with four-year-old students from a California 
State Preschool Program CSPP program as long as the commingled program meets all of the 
requirements of each program are met and theas well as the following requirements:  (Education Code 
8207, 48000): 
 
1. The classroom does not include students enrolled in TK for a second year or students enrolled 

in a regular kindergarten.  ( 
 
2. An early childhood environment rating scale, as specified in 5 CCR 18281, is completed for the 

classroom 
 
3. All children enrolled for 10 or more hours per week are evaluated using the Desired Results 

Developmental Profile, as specified in 5 CCR 18272 
 
4. The classroom is taught by a teacher that holds a credential issued by the Commission on 

Teacher Credentialing in accordance with Education Code 8235, 48000) 
44065 and 44256 

 
5. The classroom is in compliance with the adult-child ratio specified in Education Code 8241 

 



Page 5 of 6 

6. Contractors of the district report the services, revenues, and expenditures for children in the 
preschool program in accordance with 5 CCR 18068 except for contractors of the TK program 
(cf. 5148.3 - Preschool/Early Childhood Education) 

 
Note:  Education Code 48000, as amended by AB 130, requires districts to maintain an average TK class enrollment of not 
more than 24 students for each school site. 
 
The district shall maintain an average TK class enrollment of not more than 24 students for each school 
site.  (Education Code 48000) 
 
Staffing 
 
Note:  To be qualified to teach a TK class, the teacher must possess an appropriate multiple subjects or early childhood 
education credential issued by the Commission on Teacher Credentialing authorizing instruction in TK. Education Code 
48000 establishes additional requirements for credentialed teachers who are first assigned to a TK class after July 1, 2015, 
as provided below. 
 
TK assignments are subject to assignment monitoring and reporting by the County Superintendent of Schools in 
accordance with Education Code 44258.9. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that teachers assigned to teach in TK classes possess a 
teaching credential or permit from the Commission on Teacher Credentialing (CTC) that authorizes 
such instruction. 
(cf. 4112.2 - Certification) 
 

Note:  Education Code 48000, as amended by AB 130, extends until August 1, 2023, the requirement for credentialed 
teachers who are first assigned to a TK class to meet additional qualifications, as described below. 

 
A credentialed teacher who is first assigned to a TK class after July 1, 2015, shall, by August 1, 
20212023, have at least 24 units in early childhood education and/or child development, comparable 
professional experience in a preschool setting, and/or a child development teacher permit issued by 
CTC.   (Education Code 48000) 
 

Note:  Education Code 8281.5, as added by AB 130, permits the use of funding from the California Prekindergarten 
Planning and Implementation Grant Program for the purpose of professional development, including, but not limited to, 
developing competencies in serving inclusive classrooms and dual language learners. 

 
The Superintendent or designee may provide professional development as needed to ensure that TK 
teachers are knowledgeable about the standards and effective instructional methods for teaching young 
children., including, but not limited to, developing competencies in serving inclusive classrooms and 
dual language learners. 
 

Note:  Education Code 48000, as amended by AB 130, requires districts to, commencing with the 2022-23 school year, 
maintain an average of at least one adult for every 12 students for TK classrooms and, contingent upon an appropriation 
of funding, maintain an average of at least one adult for every 10 students commencing with the 2023-24 school year. 

 
The district shall, commencing with the 2022-23 school year, maintain an average of at least one adult 
for every 12 students for TK classrooms and, contingent upon an appropriation of funding, maintain an 
average of at least one adult for every 10 students commencing with the 2023-24 school year.  
(Education Code 48000) 
(cf. 4131 - Staff Development) 
 



Page 6 of 6 

Continuation to Kindergarten 
 

Note:  The following section is consistent with guidance in CDE's "Transitional Kindergarten FAQs." 
 
Students who complete the TK program shall be eligible to continue in kindergarten the following 
school year.  Parents/guardians of such students shall not be required to submit a signed Kindergarten 
Continuance Form for kindergarten attendance. 
 

Note:  The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that allow kindergarten-eligible children to enroll in TK; 
see "Eligibility" section above.  When such students are subsequently enrolled in kindergarten, the district is required to 
obtain a signed Kindergarten Continuance Form in order to receive kindergarten ADA for those children since they 
would otherwise be age-eligible for first grade.  CDE recommends that approval for a student to continue in 
kindergarten not be sought until near the end of the year of TK, since permission obtained unreasonably far in advance 
could be found invalid. 

 
However, whenever children who would otherwise be age-eligible for kindergarten are enrolled in TK, 
the Superintendent or designee shall obtain a Kindergarten Continuance Form signed by the 
parent/guardian near the end of the TK year consenting to the child's enrollment in kindergarten the 
following year. 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 46300, the district may not include for ADA purposes the attendance of any student 
for more than two years in kindergarten or for more than two years in a combination of TK and kindergarten. 

 
A student shall not attend more than two years in a combination of TK and kindergarten.   (Education 
Code 46300) 
(cf. 5123 - Promotion/Acceleration/Retention) 
 
Assessment 
 

Note:  The following section may be revised to reflect district practice.  One assessment resource for TK students is 
CDE's Desired Results Developmental Profile, which is designed to assess the developmental progression of all children 
from early infancy to kindergarten entry. 

 
The Superintendent or designee may develop or identify appropriate formal and/or informal 
assessments of TK students' development and progress.  The Superintendent or designee shall monitor 
and regularly report to the Board regarding program implementation, the progress of students in 
meeting related academic standards, and student preparedness for future education. 
(cf. 0500 - Accountability) 
(cf. 6162.5 - Student Assessment) 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Policy adopted: June 17, 2015  
revised: December 11, 2018 
revised: January 12, 2021 
revised: February 08, 2022 



Page 1 of 8 
**Revisions** 

 

Board Policy Manual 
Sierra County/Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District 

Board Bylaws 
Bylaw 9320: Meetings And Notices 

 

Original Adopted Date: 11/13/2007 | Last Revised Date: 01/12/2021 | Last Reviewed Date: 01/12/2021  
 
Meetings of the Governing Board are conducted for the purpose of accomplishing district business.  In 
accordance with state open meeting laws (Brown Act), the Board shall hold its meetings in public and 
shall conduct closed sessions during such meetings only as authorized by law.  To encourage 
community involvement in the schools, Board meetings shall provide opportunities for questions and 
comments by members of the public.  All meetings shall be conducted in accordance with law and the 
Board's bylaws, policies, and administrative regulations. 
(cf. 9321 - Closed Session) 
(cf. 9322 - Agenda/Meeting Materials) 
(cf. 9323 - Meeting Conduct) 
 
A Board meeting exists whenever a majority of Board members gather at the same time and location, 
including teleconference location as permitted by Government Code 54953, to hear, discuss, deliberate, 
or take action upon any item within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board or 
district.   (Government Code 54952.2) 
 

Note:  The Brown Act prohibits serial meetings, defined under Government Code 54952.2 as a series of communications 
of any kind, directly or through intermediaries, to discuss, deliberate, or take action on any item of district business. 
 
This prohibition against serial meetings also applies to communications via technology. Email exchanges, chat room 
threads, or comments posted on a blog or social media account that result in a majority of the Governing Board "discussing 
among themselves" an item within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board could result in a Brown Act violation. 
Pursuant to Government Code 54952.2, as amended by AB 992 (Ch. 89, Statutes of 2020), Board members may engage 
in separate conversations or communications with members of the public on an Internet-based social media platform that 
is open and accessible to the public as long as a majority of the Board does not use the platform to discuss among 
themselves business within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board and members do not comment on or use digital 
icons (e.g., "likes" or emojis) to express reactions to communications made by other Board members. Consequently, a 
Board member is prohibited from responding directly to any communication from other members of the Board on a social 
media platform regarding matters that are within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board. See BB 9012 - Board 
Member Electronic Communications. 
 
In 84 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 30 (2001), the Attorney General opined that Government Code 54952.2 prohibits a majority of 
the Board from sending emails to each other to develop a collective concurrence as to action to be taken by the Board 
even if the emails are (1) sent to the secretary and chairperson, (2) posted on the district's web site, and (3) distributed (in 
a printed version) at the next meeting. Although the Attorney General recognized that those three conditions would allow 
the deliberations to be conducted, to some extent, "in public," the emails were prohibited by the Brown Act because all 
debate would be completed before the meeting and members of the public who did not have Internet access would be 
excluded from the debate. 

 
A majority of the Board shall not, outside of an authorized meeting, use a series of communications of 
any kind, directly or through intermediaries, including social media and other electronic 
communications, to discuss, deliberate, or take action on any item that is within the subject matter 
jurisdiction of the Board.   (Government Code 54952.2) 
 
Note:  Government Code 54952.2 specifies that briefings between staff and Board members are permissible in order to 
answer questions or to provide information, as long as the briefing is not used to communicate the comments or position of 
any other Board member. 

 
However, an employee or district official may engage in separate conversations or communications 
with Board members in order to answer questions or provide information regarding an item within the 



Page 2 of 8 
 

 

subject matter jurisdiction of the Board, as long as that employee or district official does not 
communicate the comments or position of any Board members to other Board members.   (Government 
Code 54952.2) 
(cf. 9012 - Board Member Electronic Communications) 
 

Note:  Government Code 54953.2 requires that all Board meetings meet the protections of the Americans with Disabilities 
Act (ADA) (42 USC 12132) and implementing regulations (28 CFR 35.160, 36.303). Such protections require the district 
to ensure that the meeting is accessible to persons with disabilities and, upon request, to provide disability-related 
accommodations, such as auxiliary aids and services. Auxiliary aids and services may include accommodations at the 
actual meeting, such as a sign-language interpreter, or accommodations to the supporting documentation, such as Braille 
translation of the agenda packet. Government Code 54954.2 requires that the agenda specify how, when, and to whom a 
request for accommodation should be made; see BB 9322 - Agenda/Meeting Materials. 

 
In order to help ensure the participation of individuals with disabilities at Board meetings, the 
Superintendent or designee shall provide appropriate disability-related accommodations or 
modifications upon request in accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act.   (Government 
Code 54953.2, 54954.1, 54954.2) 
 
Regular Meetings 
 

Note:  Education Code 35140 and Government Code 54954 mandate the Board to fix the time and place for its regular 
meetings by rule and regulation. 

 
The Board shall hold one regular meeting(s) each month. Sierra County Board of Education Rregular 
meetings shall be held at 6:00pm on the second Tuesday of each month with the exception of June and 
December. The Sierra-Plumas Joint Unified School District Governing Board regular meetings shall be 
held immediately following the Sierra County Office of Education regular meetings. Meetings will be 
held at Sierra County Office of Education or Downieville Schools, alternating each month., plus 
videoconferencing unless otherwise specified to be held exclusively via videoconferencing when 
meeting in-person is not a viable option. 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Government Code 54954.2, the agenda for a regular meeting must be posted at least 72 hours prior to 
the meeting, at a location that is freely accessible to the public. Government Code 54954.2 also requires that the agenda 
be posted on the district's web site, if it has one. Any district that does not have a web site should delete the reference to 
it in the following paragraph. 
 
The Attorney General has determined in 78 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 327 (1995) that weekend hours may be counted as part of 
the 72-hour period for posting of the agenda prior to a regular meeting. In the same opinion, the Attorney General found 
that the term "freely accessible" requires that the agenda be posted in a location where it can be read by the public at any 
time during the 72 hours immediately preceding the meeting. For example, if a building where the agenda is posted is 
closed during the evening hours, the agenda must also be posted in a location accessible during evening hours, such as a 
lighted display case outside of the building. The Attorney General also opined in 88 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 218 (2005) that 
the agenda may be posted on a touch screen electronic kiosk, in lieu of a paper copy on a bulletin board, as long as the 
kiosk is accessible without charge to the public 24 hours a day, seven days a week. 

 
At least 72 hours prior to a regular meeting, the agenda shall be posted at one or more locations freely 
accessible to members of the public and on the district's Internet web site.   (Government Code 
54954.2) 
(cf. 1113 - District and School Web Sites) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Government Code 54957.5, the agenda must list any address where the public can inspect agenda 
materials that are distributed to Board members less than 72 hours before a regular meeting; see BB 9322 - 
Agenda/Meeting Materials. In addition, pursuant to the California Public Records Act (Government Code 6252-6270), 
agenda materials related to an open session of a Board's regular meeting are "public records" and are subject to the 
inspection of any member of the public. For a list of documents subject to disclosure by the district, see BP/AR 1340 - 
Access to District Records. 



Page 3 of 8 
 

 

 
Whenever agenda materials relating to an open session of a regular meeting are distributed to the 
Board less than 72 hours before the meeting, the Superintendent or designee shall make the materials 
available for public inspection at a public office or location designated for that purpose.  at the time the 
materials are distributed to all or a majority of the Board.  (Government Code 54957.5) 
(cf. 1340 - Access to District Records) 
 
Special Meetings 
 

Note:  Education Code 35144 and Government Code 54956 allow the Board to hold special meetings to address any 
matter that requires timely action. For example, the Board may hold a special meeting to discuss the need for an emergency 
state apportionment when the district is in financial distress; see BP 3460 - Financial Reports and Accountability. 
However, pursuant to Government Code 54956, certain specified matters, as described below, may not be addressed in a 
special meeting. 

 
Special meetings of the Board may be called at any time by the presiding officer or a majority of the 
Board members.  However, a special meeting shall not be called regarding the salary, salary schedule, 
or other compensation of the Superintendent, assistant superintendent, or other management employee 
as described in Government Code 3511.1.   (Government Code 54956) 
(cf. 2121 - Superintendent's Contract) 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Government Code 54956, written notice of a special meeting may be delivered personally or by other 
means, including email or fax. Government Code 54956 requires any district that has its own web site to also post the 
notice on its web site. Any district that does not have its own web site should delete reference to it in the following 
paragraph. 

 
Written notice of special meetings shall be delivered personally or by any other means to all Board 
members and the local media who have requested such notice in writing.  The notice also shall be 
posted on the district's Internet web site.  The notice shall be received at least 24 hours before the time 
of the meeting.  The notice shall also be posted at least 24 hours before the meeting in a location freely 
accessible to the public.  The notice shall specify the time and location of the meeting and the business 
to be transacted or discussed.  No other business shall be considered at this meeting.   (Education Code 
35144; Government Code 54956) 
 
Any Board member may waive the 24-hour written notice requirement prior to the time of the meeting 
by filing a written waiver of notice with the clerk or secretary of the Board or by being present at the 
meeting at the time it convenes.  (  (Education Code 35144; Government Code 54956) 
 
Every notice of a special meeting shall provide an opportunity for members of the public to directly 
address the Board concerning any item that has been described in the meeting notice, before or during 
the item's consideration.   (Government Code 54954.3) 
 
Emergency Meetings 
 

Note:  Government Code 54956.5 authorizes a closed session during emergency meetings, as long as two-thirds of the 
members present at the meeting agree on the need for the closed session or, if less than two-thirds of the members are 
present, by unanimous vote of the members present.  See BB 9321 - Closed Session and E(1) 9323.2 - Actions by the 
Board. 

 
In the case of an emergency situation for which prompt action is necessary due to the disruption or 
threatened disruption of public facilities, the Board may hold an emergency meeting without 
complying with the 24-hour notice and/or 24-hour posting requirement for special meetings pursuant to 
Government Code 54956.  The Board shall comply with all other requirements for special meetings 



Page 4 of 8 
 

 

during an emergency meeting.   (Government Code 54956.5) 
 
An emergency situation means either of the following:   (Government Code 54956.5) 
 
1.         An emergency, which shall be defined as a work stoppage, crippling activity, or other activity 

that severely impairs public health and/or safety as determined by a majority of the members of 
the Board 
(cf. 4141.6/4241.6 - Concerted Action/Work Stoppage) 
 

2.         A dire emergency, which shall be defined as a crippling disaster, mass destruction, terrorist 
activityact, or threatened terrorist actactivity that poses peril so immediate and significant that 
requiring the Board to provide one-hour notice before holding an emergency meeting may 
endanger the public health and/or safety as determined by a majority of the members of the 
Board 
(cf. 3516 - Emergencies and Disaster Preparedness Plan) 
 

Except in the case of a dire emergency, the Board president or designee shall give notice of the 
emergency meeting by telephone at least one hour before the meeting to the local media that have 
requested notice of special meetings. All telephone numbers provided by the media in the most recent 
request for notification must be exhausted.  If telephone services are not functioning, the notice 
requirement of one hour is waived and, as soon after the meeting as possible, the Board shall notify 
those media representatives of the meeting and shall describe the purpose of the meeting and any 
action taken by the Board.  In the case of a dire emergency, the Board president or designee shall give 
such notice at or near the time notification is given to the other members of the Board about the 
meeting.   (Government Code 54956.5) 
 
The minutes of the meeting, a list of persons the Board president or designee notified or attempted to 
notify, a copy of the roll call vote, and any actions taken at the meeting shall be posted for at least 10 
days in a public place as soon after the meeting as possible.   (Government Code 54956.5) 
 
Adjourned/Continued Meetings 
 
The Board may adjourn/continue any regular or special meeting to a later time and location that shall 
be specified in the order of adjournment.  Less than a quorum of the Board may adjourn such a 
meeting. If no Board members are present, the secretary or the clerk may declare the meeting 
adjourned to a later time and place and shall give notice in the same manner required for special 
meetings.   (Government Code 54955) 
 
Within 24 hours after the time of adjournment, a copy of the order or notice of 
adjournment/continuance shall be conspicuously posted on or near the door of the place where the 
meeting was held.   (Government Code 54955) 
 
Study Sessions, Retreats, Public Forums, and Discussion Meetings 
 

Note:  The following section is optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. Pursuant to Government Code 
54954.2, the Board must still comply with the public notice requirements when holding a study session, retreat, public 
forum or other such meeting. 

 
The Board may occasionally convene a study session or public forum to study an issue in more detail 
or to receive information from staff or feedback from members of the public. 
 
The Board may also convene a retreat or discussion meeting to discuss Board roles and relationships. 
(cf. 2000 - Concepts and Roles) 



Page 5 of 8 
 

 

(cf. 2111 - Superintendent Governance Standards) 
(cf. 9000 - Role of the Board) 
(cf. 9005 - Governance Standards) 
(cf. 9400 - Board Self-Evaluation) 
 
Public notice shall be given in accordance with law when a quorum of the Board is attending a study 
session, retreat, public forum, or discussion meeting.  All such meetings shall comply with the Brown 
Act and shall be held in open session and within district boundaries.  Action items shall not be included 
on the agenda for these meetings. 
 
Other Gatherings 
 
Attendance by a majority of Board members at any of the following events is not subject to the Brown 
Act provided that a majority of the Board members do not discuss specific district business among 
themselves other than as part of the scheduled program:   (Government Code 54952.2) 
 
1.         A conference or similar public gathering open to the public that involves a discussion of issues 

of general interest to the public or to school board members 
 

2.         An open, publicized meeting organized by a person or organization other than the district to 
address a topic of local community concern 
 

3.         An open and noticed meeting of another body of the district 
 

4.         An open and noticed meeting of a legislative body of another local agency 
 

5.         A purely social or ceremonial occasion 
 

6.         An open and noticed meeting of a standing committee of the Board, provided that the Board 
members who are not members of the standing committee attend only as observers 
(cf. 9130 - Board Committees) 
 

Individual contacts or conversations between a Board member and any other person are not subject to 
the Brown Act.   (Government Code 54952.2) 
 
Location of Meetings 
 
Meetings shall not be held in a facility that prohibits the admittance of any person on the basis of 
ancestry or any characteristic listed in Government Code 11135.   In addition, meetings shall not be 
held in a facility which is inaccessible to individuals with disabilities or where members of the public 
must make a payment or purchase in order to be admitted.   (Government Code 54961) 
(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
 
Meetings shall be held within district boundaries, except to do any of the following:   (Government 
Code 54954) 
 
1.         Comply with state or federal law or court order or attend a judicial or administrative proceeding 

to which the district is a party 
 

2.         Inspect real or personal property which cannot conveniently be brought into the district, 
provided that the topic of the meeting is limited to items directly related to the property 
 



Page 6 of 8 
 

 

3.         Participate in meetings or discussions of multiagency significance, provided these meetings are 
held within one of the other agencies' boundaries, with all participating agencies giving the 
notice required by law 
 

4.         Meet in the closest meeting facility if the district has no meeting facility within its boundaries 
or if its principal office is located outside the district 
 

5.         Meet with elected or appointed state or federal officials when a local meeting would be 
impractical, solely to discuss legislative or regulatory issues affecting the district over which 
the state or federal officials have jurisdiction 
 

6.         Meet in or near a facility owned by the district but located outside the district, provided the 
meeting agenda is limited to items directly related to that facility 
 

7.         Visit the office of the district's legal counsel for a closed session on pending litigation, when 
doing so would reduce legal fees or costs 
 

8.         Attend conferences on nonadversarial collective bargaining techniques 
 

9.         Interview residents of another district regarding the Board's potential employment of an 
applicant for Superintendent of the district 
 

10.       Interview a potential employee from another district 
 

Meetings exempted from the boundary requirements, as specified in items #1-10 above, shall still be 
subject to the notice and open meeting requirements for regular and special meetings when a quorum 
of the Board attends the meeting. 
 
If a fire, flood, earthquake, or other emergency renders the regular meeting place unsafe, meetings shall 
be held for the duration of the emergency at a location designated by the Board president or designee, 
who shall so inform all news media who have requested notice of special meetings by the most rapid 
available means of communication.   (Government Code 54954) 
 
Teleconferencing 
 
A teleconference is a meeting of the Board in which Board members are in different locations, 
connected by electronic means through audio and/or video.   (Government Code 54953) 
 
The Board may use teleconferences for all purposes in connection with any meeting within the Board's 
subject matter jurisdiction.  All votes taken during a teleconference meeting shall be by roll 
call.   (Government Code 54953) 
 
During the teleconference, at least a quorum of the members of the Board shall participate from 
locations within district boundaries.   (Government Code 54953) 
 
Agendas shall be posted at all teleconference locations and shall list all teleconference locations 
whenever they are posted elsewhere.  Additional teleconference locations may be provided to the 
public.   (Government Code 54953) 
 

Note:  In 84 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 181 (2001), the Attorney General opined that a city is not required under the ADA to 
provide, as an accommodation for city council member with disabilities who was unable to attend a regularly scheduled 
meeting, a teleconference connection to the member's house where the public would not be permitted to be present. 



Page 7 of 8 
 

 

According to the Attorney General, Government Code 54953 requires that members of the public be permitted to be 
present at any teleconference location. 

 
All teleconference locations shall be accessible to the public.  All teleconferenced meetings shall be 
conducted in a manner that protects the statutory and constitutional rights of the parties or the public 
appearing before the Board, including the right of the public to address the Board directly at each 
teleconference location.   (Government Code 54953) 
 
All Board policies, administrative regulations, and bylaws shall apply equally to meetings that are 
teleconferenced. 
 
Teleconferencing During a Proclaimed State of Emergency 
 

Note:  Pursuant to Government Code 54953, as amended by AB 361 (Ch. 165, Statutes of 2021), boards are authorized, 
until January 1, 2024, to conduct board meetings by teleconference as specified below when holding a board meeting 
during a proclaimed state of emergency pursuant to Government Code 8625-8629 when any of the following 
circumstance exist:  (1) state or local officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing; (2) 
to determine whether, as a result of an emergency, meeting in person would present imminent risks to the health or 
safety of attendees; or (3) when it has been determined, as a result of an emergency, that meeting in person would 
impose such risks. 
 
While a resolution is not required by law to make findings required by Government Code 54953, as amended by AB 
361, CSBA offers sample resolutions available on its web site for (1) recognizing a state of emergency and authorizing 
teleconferenced.   meetings and (2) recognizing a state of emergency and re-authorizing teleconferenced meetings. 
CSBA recommends that if resolutions are not utilized, the motion and findings to authorize or reauthorize emergency 
teleconferenced meetings are included in the meeting minutes. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall facilitate public participation in the meeting Board may conduct Board 
meetings by teleconference without posting agendas at all teleconference locations, identifying 
teleconference locations in meeting notices and agendas, allowing public access to each teleconference 
location., providing an opportunity for members of the public to address the Board directly at each 
teleconference location, and ensuring that at least a quorum of the Board participate from locations 
within district boundaries, during a proclaimed state of emergency pursuant to Government Code 
8625-8629 in any of the following circumstances:  (Government Code 54953) 
 
1. State or local officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing 
 
2. For the purpose of determining, by majority vote, whether as the result of the emergency 

meeting in person would present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees 
 

3. When it has been determined, by majority vote as described in Item #2 above, that as a result of 
the emergency meeting in person would present imminent risks to the health or safety of 
attendees 

 
To conduct a teleconference meeting for these purposes the following requirements shall be satisfied:  
(Government Code 54953) 
 
1. The notice and agenda shall be given and posted as otherwise required by the Brown Act 
 
2. The notice and agenda of the meeting shall specify the means by which members of the public 

may access the meeting and offer public comments, including via a call-in or internet-based 
service option 

 



Page 8 of 8 
 

 

Members of the public may be required to register to log in to a meeting when making public 
comments through an internet web site or other online platform that is operated by a third-party 
and not under the control of the Board. 

 
3. Members of the public shall be allowed to access the meeting, and the agenda shall provide an 

opportunity for members of the public to address the Board directly pursuant to Government 
Code 54954.3 

 
4. Members of the public shall not be required to submit public comments in advance of a Board 

meeting and shall be provided an opportunity to address the Board and offer comments in real 
time 

 
5. Public comment periods shall not be closed until the timed public comment period, if such is 

offered by the Board, has elapsed or, if not timed, until a reasonable amount of time per agenda 
item has been allowed 

 
6. If during a Board meeting a disruption occurs which prevents the district from broadcasting the 

meeting to members of the public or for members of the public to offer public comments, the 
Board shall take no further action on any agenda item until public access via the call-in or 
internet-based service option to the meeting is restored 
(cf. 9323.2 - Actions by the Board) 

 
The district may, in its discretion, provide a physical location from which the public may attend or 
comment.  (Government Code 54953) 
 
The Board may continue to conduct meetings by teleconference, as specified above for 
teleconferencing during proclaimed states of emergency, by a majority vote finding within 30 days 
after teleconferencing for the first time, and every 30 days thereafter, that either:  (Government Code 
54953) 
 
1. The state of emergency continues to directly impact the ability of the Board to meet safely in 

person 
 
2. State or local officials continue to impose or recommend measures to promote social distancing 
 
 
SIERRA COUNTY OFFICE OF EDUCATION 
SIERRA-PLUMAS JOINT UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Bylaw adopted: November 13, 2007 
revised: January 13, 2009  
revised: December 13, 2011 
revised: February 14, 2012 
revised: October 8, 2013 
revised: August 11, 2015 
revised: December 13, 2016 
revised: January 17, 2017 
revised: January 12, 2021 
revised: February 08, 2022 
 


